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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
he more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of TREE Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

To our Shareholders

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Our Group engages in (i) the sale, distribution and rental of furniture and home
accessories; (ii) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights;
(iii) the operation of TREE Café at the Group's flagship store in Hong Kong;
(iv) the provision of furniture agency services; (v) the provision of styling and
consulting services; and (vi) the provision of consumer loan services.

After eighteen years of being established in Hong Kong, TREE Limited is one
of the leading lifestyle furniture and home furnishing companies in Hong Kong,
operating under the brand name “TREE".

Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Hong Kong Italiving International Co. Limited
(“Italiving”) and Shanghai Italiving International Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Italiving”) focus on the sourcing and distribution of high-end Italian furniture
made in Italy. Italiving and Shanghai Italiving have offices in Hong Kong,
Shanghai and Italy to maintain a unique merchandising network with Italian
furniture manufacturers, and offer a wide variety of furniture products
to individuals and wholesale customers, as well as undertaking projects
throughout the People Republic of China (the “PRC"). In January 2022, we
acquired Super Easy Finance Limited (“Super Easy”) which is principally
engaged in the provision of consumer loan services.

The general market conditions and the operating environment continued
to be challenging in 2022/2023, as the economy continues to recover from
the COVID-19 pandemic. On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”),
| am pleased to present the annual report of TREE Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with the Company (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023").

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For FY2023, the total revenue of the Group was approximately HK$78.2
million, a decrease of approximately HK$17.7 million, mainly attributable to a
decrease in commission income and a decrease in the sale of furniture and
home accessories. The overall gross profit margin of the Group decreased from
approximately 66.2% to 66.0%.

Impairment profit warning

Amidst all these challenges, we report that the Group has recorded a loss
for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$11.1 million, after a negative impairment of goodwill of approximately
HK$14.7 million arising from the previous acquisition of Italiving in 2018. The
net profit from last year was approximately HK$5.2 million.

The Company does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2023 (FY2022: Nil).
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THE FUTURE

While | am writing this statement we are still operating within a challenging
environment globally as the economy continues to recover from the COVID-19
pandemic. It is therefore difficult, given the uncertainty to predict the market
sentiment, and our industry continues to be challenged with highly competitive
retail market conditions with many retailers relying on heavy discounting to
generate retail sales. However, we remain positive that the economy will
continue to recover from the COVID-19 pandemic and this will be reflected in a
more positive retail sentiment. We will continue to take advantage of growth
opportunities to improve our competitive positioning.

THE FINAL NOTE

The Group is proud of the TREE brand that was founded in Hong Kong and
has grown with heart and integrity over the last eighteen years. Now, as a
much loved and trusted source of beautiful, high quality furniture and home
furnishings in Hong Kong, we are pleased to maintain and grow our business
with a broader portfolio of products and services as well as continuing to
identify and maximise the business opportunities.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank all TREE staff members, our
suppliers, partners and, of course, our customers for their continuous support of
TREE. We would also like to express our sincere thank you to all the scientists,
doctors, nurses and health-care professionals who have made incredible
sacrifices to fight against COVID-19.

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
20 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights of
“TREE"; (iii) the operation of TREE Café in our flagship store in Ap Lei Chau
(the “Flagship Store”); (iv) the provision of furniture agency services; (v) the
provision of styling and consulting services; and (vi) the provision of consumer
loan services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store. We have commenced
online sales since May 2019. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables,
chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including
kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses,
utensils and baskets.

In addition, we acquired lItaliving in December 2018, which is principally
engaged in the provision of a furniture agency service in Hong Kong.
Furthermore, a subsidiary, Shanghai Italiving, was incorporated in July 2019,
which is principally engaged in the sale and distribution of furniture, and the
provision of styling and consulting services in the PRC. In January 2022, we
acquired Super Easy, which is principally engaged in the provision of consumer
loan services.

During FY2023, we generated revenue from the (i) sale of furniture and home
accessories; (i) operation of TREE Café; (iii) provision of furniture agency
services; (iv) provision of styling and consulting services; (v) provision of
furniture rental services; and (vi) provision of consumer loan services. The table
below sets forth a breakdown of our revenue for FY2023 and for the year ended
31 March 2022 ("FY2022"):

BEER WA

¥ EE

BB EAL A F S - () BA[TREE] 1 b2 &
BEERERRBEMES  SHEEEE ()
[TREE] A0 &8 2= 4 5 88 K & ) = (i) 7 06 R O &0 A
JE ([HE 8B K |) PO 48 % TREE Café ¢ (iv) IR R B 32
AR : (VIRE R R BRRE  RVi)EHOEESE
BRR o

RARERH  RAUEFELLMETREEITE
J& - BIIEMEE R EE - RIAR2019F5 A &
BLEHEE - RAREEZBEQEER BEEH
WA TR D ERIK RIOKEEH - B3
BERM KAEAEHMBER #F 58
Ke - BARET -

BEAh - BAFIR201BFENAKRBEZHR - EE2H
EREFBRERERERS - BE - WEAA
BB ERR209FTAEMKY  TEHRE
RABEEE RS HEREN LR/ ET R AR
o M202F1 A RMRBEERERBES
EERRBOSER -

R0 EFE - B KRERENRERRE
T &6 885 £ - (ii) 4% % TREE Café : (i) 12 ft R B IR AR
% (VIR BT RFBARE  (VIERHERERER
B RWVIIREEBEERRE o TREHFM
20238 B 8 ] 8 22022 4E3 A 31 A 1 [ ([2022
MBERE MU P :

Year ended 31 March

B E3A3ELLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue from contracts with customers EF a0k
Sale of furniture and home accessories RERREEMEE 69,398 80,910
Distribution and license fee income DI R EEIRA - 800
Food and beverage income B kR mBA 3,374 3818
Commission income -2 N 5,306 9,821
Consulting income AU A - 511
18,078 95,860

Revenue from other sources H R UK &=
Rental income WA 116 53
78,194 95,913
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

For FY2023, our revenue amounted to approximately HK$78.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$17.7 million or 18.5% from
approximately HK$95.9 million for FY2022. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to a decrease in sale of furniture and home accessories and a
decrease in commission income.

Sale of furniture and home accessories

TREE primarily sells its products to (i) retail customers who visited our retail
stores; and (i) customers who placed orders via our online platform being
the direct sales in Hong Kong. Shanghai Italiving generates sales of luxury
Italian furniture to its customers in the PRC. The following table sets forth a
breakdown of our sale of furniture and home accessories for FY2023 and FY
2022, respectively.

R0 HEE - HMH WK LD AR82E BE
TC v B20228 EFE #4995.98 BB TR A 1778
BB 185%  FERHRERERRER &
EURBEWAR D FTE -

RERREERMEE

TREEXEZEHERE TINHBRMNTEENTER
B iRiBBEMNBLFETETENTFS -
BEBHNEEEE o HEEE LB EE
BAPREEFPHEERES AFEGKE - TxREAT
202387 BUAF 2 2 202284 BRF B MR 1B R R B B &
HERRA -

Year ended 31 March
BZE3IANALEE

2023
20235
% of total
revenue from
sale of furniture

2022
20224
% of total
revenue from
sale of furniture

and home and home
Revenue accessories Revenue accessories
HEERE 1 ERE
EI= R &K E &
FR &) U 7
W &= Bt & ERavd
HK$"000 % HK$'000 %
FE T Bt FET Bt
Direct sales in Hong Kong EEANEEHE
Retail store! TER 64,631 931 70,403 87.0
Online sales and non-retail sales 49 - $5& &
HFEEHE 3,590 5.2 3,659 45
Sub-total NEF 68,221 98.3 74,062 915
Distribution sales DHHEE 1177 17 1,315 16
Sales via Shanghai ltaliving EB L BEEXH
ETHE - 0.0 5,533 6.9
Total Fe 69,398 100.0 80,910 100.0
Notes: B &E -
0 Our retail stores include our Flagship Store and Sha Tin store. 0} TEEREEEERDHIE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

For FY2023, revenue generated from the direct sales was approximately
HK$68.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$5.8 million or
7.9% from approximately HK$74.1 million for FY2022.

For FY2023, revenue generated from the distribution sales amounted to
approximately HK$1.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.1
million or 10.4% from approximately HK$1.3 million for FY2022.

For FY2023, there was no revenue generated from Shanghai Italiving for the
sale of luxury Italian furniture to its PRC customers (FY2022: approximately
HK$5.5 million).

Distribution and license fee income

We entered into distribution agreements with our PRC distributor, and we were
entitled to receive annual non-refundable fees of HK$0.8 million and HK$2.4
million from our PRC distributor for the distribution of our products in Hainan
province and Beijing, the PRC, respectively. The distribution agreement expired
in June 2021 and was not extended.

The Group's did not have any distribution and license fee income for FY2023
(FY2022: HK$0.8 million).

Food and beverage income

The Group's food and beverage income generated from operating TREE Café
in our Flagship Store was approximately HK$3.4 million and HK$3.8 million
for FY2023 and FY2022, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to less
customers visiting the Flagship Store for FY2023.

Commission income

The Group's commission income comprised of income generated from the
furniture agency service by Italiving and the sale of consignment goods was
approximately HK$5.3 million and HK$6.9 million for FY2023 and FY2022,
respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the drop of sales from Italiving
affected by the COVID-19 outbreak globally.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consulting income

The Group's consulting income comprised of income generated from
projects including the provision of styling advice, furniture proposals and
implementation services. The decrease was mainly due to the Group did not
provide styling and consulting services to our PRC customers via Shanghai
[taliving during FY2023.

Rental income

The Group's rental income comprised of income generated from the provision of
furniture rental services was approximately HK$0.1 million and HK$53,000 for
FY2023, and FY2022, respectively. The increase was mainly due to more rental
services during FY2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased to approximately HK$78.2 million for FY2023
from approximately HK$93.0 million for FY2022, representing a decrease of
approximately 15.9%. Such decrease was mainly due to a decrease in the sale
of furniture and home accessories and a decrease in commission income.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's overall gross profit decreased to approximately HK$51.6 million for
FY2023 from approximately HK$60.6 million for FY2022. The overall gross profit
margin dropped to approximately 66.0% for FY2023 from approximately 65.2%
for FY2022.

The Group’s gross profit margin for the sale of furniture and home accessories
raised to approximately 63.7% for FY2023 from approximately 62.7% for
FY2022. Distribution sales dropped to approximately 44.8% for FY2023 from
approximately 45.3% for FY2022.

The Group's gross profit margin for the sale of food and beverages was dropped
to approximately 69.3% for FY2023 from approximately 69.7% for FY2022.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses mainly comprise (i) depreciation
of right-of-use assets; (ii) staff costs attributable to the salary of our staff
engaged in selling and marketing activities; (iii) marketing expenses; (iv)
payment gateway charges attributable to fees for our payment channels such
as credit cards or EPS; and (v) electricity and water expenses.

BEER WA

LN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

The Group's selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately
HK$33.2 million for FY2023, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.2
million or approximately 0.5% from approximately HK$33.4 million for FY2022.
Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in marketing expenses of
approximately HK$0.3 million and offset by electricity and water expenses
which increase approximately HK$0.2 million.

Administrative expenses

The Group's administrative expenses mainly comprised (i) staff costs for
our administrative staff and Directors’ emoluments; (i) professional fees
which included legal fees, consultancy fees and auditor's remuneration; (iii)
travel expenses; (iv) office expenses; (v) depreciation of our property, plant
and equipment, and amortisation of our intangible assets; (vi) repairs and
maintenance for our trucks and retail stores; (vii) insurance expenses which
included business insurance, vehicle insurance and medical insurance; (viii)
recruitment expenses which included fees to the recruitment agents and
advertisements on websites; (ix) bank charges; (x) handling fee; and (xi) others
which included motor vehicle expenses, net foreign exchange losses and
entertainment expenses.

For FY2023, the Group's administrative expenses amounted to approximately
HK$22.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.4 million
or approximately 5.7% from approximately HK$23.9 million for FY2022.
Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in (i) net foreign exchange
losses of approximately HK$0.9 million; (i) depreciation and amortisation of
approximately HK$0.4 million; and (iii) service fee of approximately HK$0.2
million.

Fair value change on contingent consideration payable
Fair value change on contingent consideration payable was nil for FY2023.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of contingent consideration payable based
on the audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2021 was nil
and the fair value change of approximately HK$3.4 million was recognised in
the profit or loss for FY2022.

Provision for impairment of goodwill

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying value of cash-generating unit of furniture
agency services, i.e. Italiving, has been reduced to its recoverable amount of
approximately HK$8.7 million after the recognition of a non-cash impairment of
goodwill of approximately HK$14.7 million.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly comprised interest expenses on interest-bearing
borrowings and finance charges on lease liabilities. Finance costs remain stable
of approximately HK$0.8 million for FY2023 as compared to FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group decreased to approximately HK$0.9 million
for FY2023 from approximately HK$1.8 million for FY2022. The decrease was
mainly due to the loss before income tax.

Loss/Profit for the year
The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$11.1 million for FY2023
compared to a profit of approximately HK$5.2 million for FY2022.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Inventories

The Group's inventories consisted of finished goods and goods in transit
which we purchased from our suppliers. The inventories balance increased
to approximately HK$14.3 million as at 31 March 2023 from approximately
HK$10.3 million as at 31 March 2022.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's trade receivables consisted of trade receivables from customers
and payment vendors. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, our trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$29.8 million and HK$32.4 million, respectively.
The decrease of approximately HK$2.6 million was mainly due to the decrease
in trade receivables of Italiving.

The Group’s loan receivables consisted of loan receivables from customers. As
at 31 March 2023, our loan receivables amounted to approximately HK$10.7
million.

The Group's other receivables consisted of interest receivables, rental deposits,
utilities deposits, trade deposits, prepayments, and prepayment to a related
company. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, our other receivables amounted to
approximately HK$8.8 million and HK$8.6 million, respectively. The increase
of approximately HK$0.2 million was mainly due to the increase in interest
receivables.

The Group's non-current portion of loan receivables. As at 31 March 2023, it
amounted to approximately HK$0.2 million.

Bank balance and cash

Bank balance and cash include cash at bank and in hand. As at 31 March 2023
and 2022, our bank balance and cash amounted to approximately HK$9.5 million
and HK$22.2 million, respectively. For the details of cash movement, please
refer to the consolidated statement of cash flows on page 67.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Trade and other payables

The Group’s trade payables consisted of trade payables to suppliers in relation
to the purchase of goods. There were no credit periods granted by our suppliers.
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, our trade payables amounted to approximately
HK$11.8 million and HK$7.7 million, respectively.

The Group's other payables comprised accrued charges, consideration payable
which represent the unpaid cash consideration for the acquisition of Italiving,
and provision for long service payments. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, our
other payables amounted to approximately HK$11.1 million and HK$15.4 million,
respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in consideration
payable paid of approximately HK$6.0 million as at 31 March 2023 and offset
by the increase in the accrued charges and other payables of approximately
HK$1.7 million.

Contract liabilities

The Group's contract liabilities mainly represented unrecognised revenue from
customers where delivery of products is required and pending. As at 31 March
2023 and 2022, our contract liabilities amounted to approximately HK$5.9
million and HK$8.2 million, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in advance payments from customers as a result of less sales made
during FY2023.

Bank borrowings
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, our Group recorded bank borrowings of
approximately HK$6.5 million for both FY2023 and FY2022.

Lease liabilities

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group recorded lease liabilities of
approximately HK$12.9 million and HK$14.4 million, respectively. Such decrease
was due to the new and renewed leases during the year. As at 31 March 2023,
our Group has entered into leases for warehouse, office, shop premises, motor
vehicles.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$99.8
million, which is financed by total liabilities and Shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$48.1 million and HK$51.8 million, respectively. The
Group's current ratio at 31 March 2023 was approximately 1.7 compared to
approximately 1.6 at 31 March 2022.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was approximately 37.4%
while as at 31 March 2022 was approximately 33.4%.

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total borrowings and lease
liabilities, divided by total equity at each reporting date.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for FY2023 was approximately HK$0.5 million, which
was mainly used for the purchase of furniture and fixtures and leasehold
improvements.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2023, there were no significant contingent liabilities for the
Group.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2023, there was operating commitments of HK$0.1 million for
the Group (2022: Nil).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has no capital commitments (2022: HK$0.2
million).

Charges on Group assets
As at 31 March 2023, right of use assets with net book value of approximately
HK$13.0 million were held under lease arrangements (2022: HK$13.4 million).

Segment information
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 25 January 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company'’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for FY2023
(FY2022: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There were no significant investments, material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during FY2023.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In the course of conducting business, our Group is exposed to various types
of risks, including operational risks, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest
rate risks. Qur Group has established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from our operations.

The followings set out some of the primary operational risks our Group faces
that may materially and adversely affect our Group's business, financial
condition and results of operation and our risk management measures:

1.  Risk of remaining competitive in a highly

fragmented and competitive market

The lifestyle furniture and home furnishing market is highly fragmented
and competitive with low barriers to entry, and there are no specific
market leaders. Our competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other relevant resources compared to us. In particular,
the pricing strategies implemented by our competitors may affect the
pricing of our products. If our competitors significantly reduce their
product prices, we may have to reduce our selling prices or engage in
further marketing to remain competitive. This would likely reduce our
revenue and profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Risk of dependent on the shift in customer’s tastes
and preferences

Due to the nature of the furniture retail industry, the customers generally
purchase our products on an infrequent basis. Apart from the PRC
distributor, there is no purchase commitments from our customers and
there is no obligation for them to purchase any products from us in the
future. There is a risk that we may not be able to attract new customers
or existing customers to purchase our products if we fail to successfully
track changing customers tastes and preferences and market trends.

Risk of failure in expanding sales network to new
locations in Hong Kong or through online platform

It may take longer than expected for the new stores to reach breakeven
or achieve investment payback, if at all. There is no guarantee that we
will execute our expansion plans according to business strategies in the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2018 (the “Prospectus”)
successfully, or that we will be able to attract more customers from our
expansion. If we fail to execute our expansion plans, our operations and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

Risk of not entering into any long-term contracts
with our major suppliers

We rely on our major suppliers to supply products to us and we do not
have any long-term contracts with these suppliers. As such, we are
exposed to the risks such as unexpected price fluctuation, shortage of
supply of products, failure to meet our agreed delivery time and refusal
to supply products. In such case, we would have to look for alternative
suppliers and we may not be able to do so in a timely manner and/or
at a similar price with comparable quality. Further, if we fail to replace
our major suppliers when our business relationship is disrupted or
terminated, we may face a shortage in supply of certain products and
our business and results of operations may be adversely affected as a
result.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As our Group’s revenue and expenses are mainly denominated in HK$ and
most of our Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HKS$, which is our
functional currency, except for certain overseas purchases, bank balances, bank
borrowings which are denominated in Euro or USD. During FY2023, the Group
has net exchange loss of approximately HK$0.6 million (FY2022: net exchange
gain of approximately HK$1.5 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 72 employees. Total staff costs,
(including Directors’ emoluments) of approximately HK$29.0 million for FY2023
(FY2022: approximately HK$28.2 million).

The Group's remuneration policies were determined with reference to the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employees, as well as
the results of the Group and the market conditions. We have also adopted the
share option scheme which is designed to provide incentives and rewards to our
employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during FY2023.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

This forthcoming financial year will continue to be challenging as retail market
conditions remain competitive and weak consumer confidence and spending
in Hong Kong prevails while impacted by the outbreak of the COVID-19. These
factors will continue to impact our performance adversely for the forthcoming
year. We will continue to focus on running our two TREE retail stores and
also our e-commerce platform in Hong Kong. We will also keep expanding
our business to provision of furniture rental. We will continue to consolidate
and invest to build on our existing revenue streams while identifying new
opportunities.

The Group has also strengthened its income base and expanded the products
offered within its portfolio by providing furniture agency services for furniture
imported from Italy, primarily to customers in the PRC. The Group continues to
look for ways to provide comprehensive services to customers in Hong Kong
and the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (& %), aged 63, is our Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer, Executive Director and Chairman of the Nomination Committee. He was
appointed as our Director on 22 April 2016 and designated as our Chairman and
Non-Executive Director on 6 September 2016 and re-designated as a Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company from 1 August
2019. He is also a Director of TREE Limited. He is responsible for supporting our
Group on a strategic level.

Mr. Tong has more than 40 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr.
Tong was an Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from December
2003 to January 2016. He also held various senior positions at Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited from December 2004 to January 2016 including the Chief Executive
Officer of its wealth management, brokerage and capital markets. Mr. Tong
was also a Director of Bali International Finance Limited (now known as Sun
Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited) from March 2004 to January 2016. From
July 2013 to July 20186, he was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (stock code: 643), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tong was a Non-Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of Mason Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to January
2018. He was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Mason Group Holdings
Limited from April 2016 to September 2016, and Joint Chairman from
September 2016 to January 2018. Mr. Tong was also an Independent Director
of Jih Sun Financial Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 5820), the shares
of which are listed on the Taipei Exchange in Taiwan, between 2009 and June
2019.

Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1982 and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in October
1988. He was admitted as a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2000 and advanced to fellowship status in November
2005.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREER

Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, aged 52, is our Executive Director, Managing
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. She was appointed as
one of our Directors on 9 March 2016, and designated as our Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director on 6 September 2016. From 1 August 2019, Mr.
Tong Tang Joseph took over the Chief Executive Officer role on the Board. She
joined our Group in February 2010 as the Managing Director of TREE Limited
and is also a Director of TREE Limited. Ms. Babington is responsible for the
strategy of TREE Limited and for the implementation on an operational level,
across all functions including but not limited to internal management, human
resources, marketing, merchandising, sales and delivery.

Ms. Babington has more than 27 years of experience in the retail industry.
From May 1993 to January 2010, Ms. Babington worked in The Body Shop
International PLC.

In February 1993, Ms. Babington graduated from the University of Central
Lancashire in the United Kingdom with a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Business and Finance. In November 1996, she obtained a Certificate in Applied
Professional Studies from the University of Brighton in United Kingdom. She
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Marketing from the Kingston University
in the United Kingdom in October 1998. In November 2003, Ms. Bahington
completed the social systems auditor/lead auditor training course provided by
SGS Hong Kong Limited. In April 2023, Ms. Babington successfully completed
a course in Business Sustainability Management from the University of
Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL).

Ms. Babington became an Associate (corporate) of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing in the United Kingdom in December 1996. She was also admitted
as a Member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom in
November 1998.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 B2 FR A & Annual Report %k 2023

Mary Kathleen Babington 2 & * 525% * /& 3 9 £9
WITES EEEHCERRELTEGHE - #
R2016F3IARBEZFREF—BEET TR
2016F9H6 R BT AITHABHFNITES - A
2019F8A1B  BEEEAEBREEESITHER
—E © BabingtonZ = 7A2010F2 A IMAARE R - &
ERBBERARNEFTLLE  THEERNEER
ANFHES - BabingtonZ + & & # T AH AR
RRAMEBE(BEETRRARABERE - ANE
B TISHE - K HERRN) KRB R
EEMEHEZSRE -

Babington X = TE 1T X B @275 £ Fh © H1993
5 H 2010418 » BabingtonZ £ 1T B 7 The Body
Shop International PLC

#19934F2 5 + BabingtonZZ + 5 2 72 2 B A S B )
E K2 (University of Central Lancashire) » EX/8 T &
SR EBLEE BT o N1996F 1A - HRE
7 3& U8 A 22 (University of Brighton) & 15 jiE A B &
EPRFE o HRN1998F 108 SRR S HE X
B2 (Kingston University) 135 & $5 &2 X B RE T B i -
72003411 A + BabingtonZ &= 58 AX & 7 i A i A
REBRAARENLSEREEM BES
RIS FIRAR © 22023484 7 - BabingtonZ +1{5 2 &l
BABEENERCEAFERETERE -

71996412 A - BabingtonZZ = Ak /& 55 B8 45 5F T 1%
Bee g (0EA) o B INHA1998F 11 5 & 1 B R &F

nHEeRAREER -



21

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (& %8 f£), aged 41, is our Executive Director, a member
of our Remuneration Committee and our Compliance Officer. He was appointed
as our Director on 9 March 2016 and designated as our Executive Director
on 6 September 2016. He joined our Group in June 2015 as a Director of Tree
Limited. Mr. Tsui is responsible for managing the financial matters of our Group.

He has more than 19 years of experience in the accounting and corporate field.
Mr. Tsui has been the Chief Executive Officer of AE Majoris Advisory Company
Limited which is principally engaged in the provision of corporate advisory
services, since January 2012. He was the Company Secretary of Noble House
(China) Holdings Limited (now known as Zhonghua Gas Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 8246), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from July 2013
to August 2014. From August 2004 to January 2012, Mr. Tsui worked in an
international accounting firm in Hong Kong with his last position as a Manager
in auditing. Mr. Tsui was a Non-Executive Director of CCT Land Holdings
Limited (now known as GBA Holdings Limited) (stock code: 261), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2017 to April
2018. Mr. Tsui was the Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary of Jiu
Zun Digital Interactive Entertainment Group Holdings Limited (now known as
Infinities Technology International (Cayman) Holding Limited) (stock code: 1961),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2019
to May 2022. Mr. Tsui has been the Company Secretary of Ching Lee Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3728), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, since 14 August 2017. Mr. Tsui has been the Non-Executive Director
of Star Group Company Limited (stock code: 1560), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since February 2022. On 15 February 2022,
Mr. Tsui has been appointed as an Executive Director and the Chairman of
Capital Estate Limited (stock code:193), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Embassy of the Republic of the Uganda in
Beijing as Honorary Trade, Tourism and Investment Consultant/Adviser on
China (Hong Kong and Macau SAR) from November 2016 to June 2019. Mr.
Tsui was appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s Palitical Consultative
Conference of Qinzhou City in Guangxi Province in China since December
2019. Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional
Integration of the Republic of Ghana as Honorary Consul of Ghana in Hong Kong
in March 2020.

Mr. Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in January 2009 and January 2012, respectively.
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EENEREER

Mr. Bian Dahai (3 X &), aged 48, is our Executive Director. He was
appointed as our Non-Executive Director on 1 October 2020 and designated as
our Executive Director on 21 October 2022.

Mr. Bian Dahai has over 23 years' experience in business management and
project investment. Mr. Bian Dahai is active in various industries, including but
not limited to the chain catering, hotel management, internet and technology,
smart home and smart elderly care industries. The Board believes that Mr.
Bian Dahai's wide range of experiences will bring new energy to the Board and
therefore further improve the business performance of the Group.

Mr. Bian Dahai is currently and has been the executive director and legal
representative of Beijing Savings Credit Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(It R EEHREEIE B MR QA since November 2015, the director of
Shandong Bonds Silver City Network Technology Co., Ltd. (111 52 155 & $R 5 48
4% B H.%8 [R 2 7)) since September 2017, the director of Zibo Shizuyuangi
Hotel Management Co., Ltd. (3 18t & J& 258 JE & 2 A R 2 Al) since
December 2017 and the director of Zibo Subaosu Catering Management Co.,
Ltd. B = B R & 88 12 B BR 2 7)) since December 2017.

In September and October 2018, Mr. Bian Dahai passed the Licensing
Examinations for Fund Practitioners in respect of fund laws and regulations,
professional ethics and private equity investment funds organised by Asset
Management Association of China.

Mr. Bian Hongjiang (3 3t T), aged 48, is our Executive Director on 21
October 2022 and resigned on 20 June 2023.

Mr. Bian Hongjiang has over 21 years' experience in financial management. He
has been the executive director and legal representative of Beijing Huijing Yian
Asset Management Co., Ltd. (It RIE & 5L & EE I B R A7) since
October 2019 and the financial officer of Shandong Yuangi Wisdom Agriculture
Development Co., Ltd. (IU RS Z 2 ¥R H R A7) since May
2022.

Mr. Bian Hongjiang graduated from the Northeast Agricultural University in July
2010 and majored in accounting.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (%5 32 &), aged 55, was appointed as
our Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also
the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Yeung has over 31 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Yeung has been the Chief Financial Officer and an Executive
Director of GCL Technology Holdings Limited (“GCL Tech”, formerly known
as GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3800), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since May and September 2014,
respectively, responsible for its financial control and reporting, corporate
finance, tax and risk management. He has also been the Company Secretary of
GCL Tech since March 2017. Since September 2015, Mr. Yeung has also been a
Non-Executive Director of GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From May 1994 to
March 2014, Mr. Yeung worked at Deloitte China with his last position being
a Partner. From January 2008 to December 2008, Mr. Yeung was a part-time
member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business with a major in
Accounting from Edith Cowan University in Australia in February 1992. He was
admitted as an associate and a certified practising accountant of the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants in February 1992 and January 1996,
respectively. He was also admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in June 1996.
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EENEREER

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (& {2 B ), aged 62, was appointed as our Independent
Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a member of our
Audit Committee and Nomination committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Tsang has extensive expertise in commercial building and interior
architecture and has over 25 years of experience as a leader of design team in
a broad variety of projects. Mr. Tsang is currently the senior Director of AGC
Design Limited.

Mr. Tsang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Architectural Studies in November 1982 and
a degree of Bachelor of Architecture in November 1985. He also obtained a
degree of Master of Business and Administration from the University of Toronto
in Canada in June 1992.

Mr. Tsang was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and elected into membership of the Royal Institute of British Architects
in December 1986 and July 1987, respectively. He was also admitted as a
professional member of the Interior Design Association (Hong Kong) in 2001
and was a founding member of the World Association of Chinese Architects
in April 2004. Mr. Tsang was accredited a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect of
the National Administration Board of Architect Registration (Qualification) in
August 2004, and admitted as an APEC Architect by the Central Council of the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation in December 2015. He currently holds the
Certificate of Registration of Authorised Person (list of architects) issued by the
Building Authority in Hong Kong and is a registered architect in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang is appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Architects Registration Board for the period from May 2016 to May 2020.
He was also appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Contractors Registration Committee Panel from January 2004 to December
2008. He was a member of the Authorised Persons Registration Committee
and the Authorised Persons Registration Committee Panel of the Buildings
Department from January 2006 to December 2011, and an alternate member
of the Advisory Committee of Barrier Free Access of the Buildings Department
from July 2007 to July 2009.
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Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ( & & % ), aged 64, was appointed as our
Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the
Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Sit has over 35 years of experience in the legal profession. He is a
practicing solicitor and Notary Public in Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was the sole-
proprietor of Kenneth Sit, Solicitors from October 2004 to October 2012,
and has been the Managing Partner of that firm since October 2012. Mr. Sit
has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pokfulam Development
Company Limited (stock code: 225), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since October 2005 and Zijin Mining Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2899 and 601899), a company dually listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, during 2013 to 2019.

Mr. Sit graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) in 1980 and was awarded the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by the
University of Hong Kong in July 1981. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in March 1983.
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EENEREER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Or Wai Yan (4 2 fiX ), aged 41, is the Merchandising Manager of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for the strategic range planning and product
sourcing of TREE Limited.

Ms. Or has over 17 years of experience in merchandising, across product
categories including home and outdoor furniture, toys and housewares. Before
joining our Group in March 2019, she worked at a number of companies,
including (i) ALDI Sourcing Asia Limited from June 2017 to June 2018 as
Sourcing Manager and from July 2013 to May 2017 as Sourcing Specialist;
(i) PRAKTIKER Group Buying Limited from November 2011 to June 2013 as a
Merchandiser; (i) WESTSIDE Austria Limited from March 2007 to August 2011
as a Merchandiser; (iv) SEARS Holding Global Sourcing Limited from June 2005
to February 2007 as an Assistant Merchandiser;

Ms. Or obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) International Trade and
Operations Management from University of Plymouth in April 2017, majoring in
Global Enterprise, Global Supply Chain and Research Skills.

Ms. Lai Kei Yue (2 £ F), aged 36, is the Digital Marketing Manager of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for developing the digital marketing strategy
of TREE Limited.

Ms. Lai has over 10 years of experience in digital marketing. Before joining
our Group in March 2021, she worked at a number of companies in house
in addition to agencies, including (i) South China Morning Post — Hearst
Magazines from July 2019 to February 2021 as a Project Manager specialised in
social media; (i) GroupM Limited from February 2014 to August 2015 as a Social
Media Manager.

Ms. Lai obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Marketing
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2009.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tse Tsz Him (3 7 &), aged 35, is our company Secretary. He joined our
Group on 1 October 2021.

Mr. Tse has over 11 years of experience in the fields of auditing, accounting,
financial management and financial reporting. Since July 2017, Mr. Tse has
been working for AE Majoris Corporate Services Company Limited. From
September 2010 to June 2017, Mr. Tse worked in an international accounting
firm in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tse graduated from the University of Hull in United Kingdom with a degree
of Bachelor of Accounting in 2010. Mr. Tse is a holder of a Master's degree in
Corporate Governance, is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the United Kingdom.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak is our Compliance Officer. Details of the qualification and
experience of Mr. Tsui have been disclose in the paragraph headed “Executive
Directors” of this section.

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak and Mr. Tse Tsz Him are the authorised representatives of our
Company.
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INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance, as our Board believes that good and effective corporate
governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
Shareholders of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the
Group and to create long-term value for the Shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. Qur Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to achieve effective
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Board, save
as Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the CG
Code during FY2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of the code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors as set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company, and there was no event of
non-compliance throughout FY2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a
balanced composition of Executive and Independent Non-Executive Directors
so that there is an independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
Mr. Bian Dahai
Mr. Bian Hongjiang
(appointed on 21 October 2022 and resigned on 20 June 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group's mission and standards and ensures that the
requisite financial and human resources support are in place for the Group to
achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference which are published on the respective websites of GEM and
the Company. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions
to senior management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management of day-to-day operation of the Group’s businesses and
implementation of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the
Board has been delegated to the senior management of the Group.
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The functions performed by the Board include but are not limited to the
following matters:

° formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring the
implementation thereof;

° deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

. approving of the Group's consolidated financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcement and other disclosure required
under the GEM Listing Rules;

° developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; and
° monitoring the performance of the management.

The Directors have full and timely access to information and accounts of the
Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the various guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 B2 FR A & Annual Report %k 2023

ELZeRTHRERKETRRATEE:

s HIEFREENRBRTE  AREREH

BEwER:

s REMBERAHN  WHE - KE HWE -
HEBEREMNEREAF:

s WMEASBENGEAMBIRE CETIHR
& REHERENGEM LR BRE R
HMHWE:

o  HIF EEERIAKRENLEERTR
ARAEENI R ARMEEREAR
EERGREBR:

e EFXeNZOAMHMIBMEMAEL R
s HEREHEMRRA-

EENHMEIAEHNAEENENEERE 1
EREHEBRTSKBUYNEESER  EH
AR RQE EE -

BIUFHITES

E FRGEM _E T #7 BIJ 885.05(1) ~ 5.05(2) K& 5.06A % + 7&K
RAIEZA=ZRBUIFRTES  BEFSK
BAB=DZ— UL MEFEL—FEEE
ENEXER SAESIEENTBEER
BE -

ARREEESBBUENTESHHEBILME
B AFERER K - RIEGEM £ #7 A 85.091%
FrE S EETRIES  ARARAZSES
BB AL -

EERGERAERR
ADREEERBRZH  RESERERTH
MR R GOEE R -



31

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board. All Board members have received Directors’
training hosted by a law firm which was about, inter alias, the GEM Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance and Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “"SFQ").

From time to time, the Company Secretary updates and provides written
training materials on the latest developments of applicable GEM Listing Rules
and regulations to the Directors.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board will schedule to meet at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in
advance. The Directors are allowed to include any other matters in the agenda
that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the
Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and
to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers
together with all appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters
of the meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of each regular Board meeting and three days or such other period as
agreed before each other Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the draft minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection. According to the GEM
Listing Rules, any Directors and their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) with a material interest in the transactions to be discussed at the Board
meetings will abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and are not counted in the quorum of the meetings.

During FY2023, four Board meetings and one Shareholders’ meeting (being the
annual general meeting (the "AGM") of the Company) were held. The individual
attendance record of the Board and Shareholders’ meetings is set out as
follows:
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EFEERBEE - FRIBITOARERE  O8F
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EMEEEXMHERMEEERFERAMNE
ELHEBEN  BRECHEFEERNETE
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RHEFF =& BENEbMRAEZ 28
BF-

AREAMEAERTFHEEESEHCHK 23
EHRERRERBRNEREZENAERENA
REFBHANEEERERRLH  EfRAH
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Number of AGM Number of Board

attended/eligible to meetings attended/

attend eligible to attend

BHE GEREE BHE GEREE

Name of Directors EEME BRREFAGERH EEZEEEARE

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BEELE 1/1 4/4

Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 22 == il 4/4

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak mARELE 71 4/4

Mr. Bian Dahai BREEE 01 0/4

Mr. Bian Hongjiang BRI AE

(appointed on 21 October 2022 and (R202F 1027 EZ TR

resigned on 20 June 2023) 2023965208 & 1) 0/0 0/2

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles 53R E 171 4/4

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BRELAE 171 4/4

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EEBERAE A 4/4
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company on 25 January 2018 and we signed letters of appointment with each
of our Independent Non-Executive Directors on the same day. The service
contracts with our Executive Directors are for an initial term of three years
commencing from the listing date on 25 January 2018 (the “Listing Date") and
can be terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing. We signed letters of appointment with our Executive Directors on 20
October 2022. The service contracts with our Executive Directors are for initial
terms of three years commencing from 21 October 2022.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts can be
renewed in accordance with our articles of association (the “Articles”) and the
applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to our Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at every AGM of the Company, provided that
every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at AGM at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by Shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also enhance the quality of performance of
the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy. All Board appointments will continue to
be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.
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The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revision that may be required and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

Targets have been set to maintain the Board with at least 20% of members
being made up of Executive Directors, together with an appropriate level of
female member, which shall be at least one female member.

The Board has achieved the aforementioned targets during FY2023. As at the
date of this report, the Board comprises seven directors, three of which are
independent non-executive directors and has one female member.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph currently assumes the role of both chairman of the
Company and chief executive of the Company. In view that Mr. Tong has been
assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing our Group and
the rapid development of our Group, the Board believes that with the support of
Mr. Tong's extensive experience and knowledge in the business of the Group,
vesting the roles of both Chairman and chief executive officer of our Company
in Mr. Tong strengthens the solid and consistent leadership and thereby allows
for efficient business planning and decision which is in the best interest to our
Group. Mr. Tong delegates the role and responsibilities including operations,
management, business development and strategy planning of the Group to
other Executive Directors. The Board will review the need of appointing suitable
candidate to assume the role of chief executive when necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this
report.
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Audit Committee

We established our Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph D.3.3 and
D.3.7 of the CG Code Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed
on 5 January 2018. The terms of reference were amended and restated on
4 January 2019, with respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee are, among other things, to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor, review the financial statements and provide advice in
respect of financial reporting, oversee our financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management systems and audit process, and perform other duties
and responsibilities assigned by our Board.

At present, our Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles,
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, all being Independent Non-
Executive Directors. Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles is the Chairman of our Audit
Committee.

During FY2023, the Audit Committee held four meetings, at which the Audit
Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s consolidated financial
results, including the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control and risk management systems and the Group's internal audit
function and recommended to the Board for consideration the same and the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the
Company's external independent auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2023, the attendance of each member at the Audit Committee
meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors
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Number of attendance/
number of meetings

EEgE EBHEREY BITRH
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (Chairman) 15 BT HE(FFE) 4/4
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BELEE 4/4
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth BEELL 4/4
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Remuneration Committee

We established our Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph E.1.2
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices pursuant to a resolution
of our Directors passed on 30 December 2022. The primary duties of our
Remuneration Committee are to review and approve the management's
remuneration proposals, make recommendations to our Board on the
remuneration package of our Directors and senior management and ensure
none of our Directors determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

At present, our Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, being
our Executive Director, and two of our Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth. Mr. Sit Hoi Wah
Kenneth is the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During FY2023, the committee met on 27 June 2022 and with 100% attendance
by all Committee members.

Nomination Committee

We established our Nomination Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January 2018.
The terms of reference were amended and restated on 4 January 2019, with
respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of our
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of
our Board, and select or make recommendations on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships.

At present, our Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being
our Chairman and Executive Director, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, being our
Executive Director, and our three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth and Mr. Tsang Wai Yin.
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph is the Chairman of our Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2023, the committee met once on 27 June 2022 with 100%
attendance by all Committee members.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For FY2023, Grant Thornton was engaged as the Group's independent auditor.
Apart from the provision of annual audit services, Grant Thornton also provided
the non-audit services to the Company.

For FY2023, the remuneration paid or payable to Grant Thornton in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:
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Category of services HK$"000
PR % %8 Bl FET
Audit services EZRE 710
Non-audit services EEZ AR 28

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects in annual,
interim and quarterly reports, and other financial disclosures required by the
GEM Listing Rules. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group's
results and cash flows for FY2023 and are properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and accounting
standards.

The management will provide the Board with monthly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In addition, Grant Thornton has stated in the Independent Auditor's Report its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for FY2023.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of the
Group's system of internal controls and risk assessment. A review of internal
controls systems of different operations was conducted by an independent
external risk advisory firm to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy internal
controls system.

The Board considered the internal controls system of the Group to be adequate
and effective for FY2023. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs and budget which
are considered to be adequate for FY2023.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or insider information or any use of
such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any inside information
and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is
promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board
to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tse Tsz Him (3 F 5, aged 35, is our Company Secretary. He joined our
Group in 1 Qctober 2021. The biographical details of Mr. Tse are set out under
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited to, the
following: (i) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that the activities
of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (ii) to assist the
Chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings and disseminate
such documents to the Directors and Board committees in a timely manner; (iii)
to timely disseminate announcements and information relating to the Group;
and (iv) to maintain formal minutes of the Board meetings and other Board
committee meetings.

During FY2023, the Company Secretary of the Company had confirmed that he
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training the accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM").

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene the EGM
and the proposed agenda.
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Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other
meetings to communicate with Shareholders and encourage their participation.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders through convening the AGM or general meetings, publication of
annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements, circulars as well
as all the disclosures submitted to the respective websites of GEM and the
Company.

A Shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by the Board at the
Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming at providing the Shareholders
and potential investors with ready and timely access to balanced and
understandable information of the Company. The Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder's communication policy
and considered it to be effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’'s constitutional documents during
FY2023.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Group has adopted a whistle-blowing policy to allow the employees
or other stakeholders (such as suppliers and customers) of the Group to
raise concerns, in confidence, with the Audit Committee about the possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Group.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group does not allow and tolerate any forms of corruption. The Group has
adopted the Anti-corruption Policy, which outlines the Group’s zero-tolerance
stance against bribery and corruption and sets out the responsibilities of all
business units and employees of the Group to comply with the applicable
anti-corruption laws, rules and regulations.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company's dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company's profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the its
future growth. In proposing any dividend, the Company would consider various
factors including but not limited to (i) the Group’s financial results, {ii) the
financial condition of the Group, (iii) the Group's working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans, (iv) the Group’s
liquidity position, (v) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and (vi) any other factors that our Board may consider appropriate.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

According to the Company’s Articles and the Companies Ordinance, dividends
must be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares of the Company. The Board may consider the issuance of bonus shares
on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
dividend policy at any time.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights of
“TREE"; (iii) the operation of TREE Café in Flagship Store; (iv) the provision of
furniture agency services; (v) the provision of styling and consulting services;
and (vi) the provision of consumer loan services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store. We have commenced
online sales since May 2019. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables,
chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including
kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses,
utensils and baskets.

In addition, we acquired lItaliving in December 2018, which is principally
engaged in the provision of furniture agency service in Hong Kong. Furthermore,
a subsidiary, Shanghai Italiving, was incorporated in July 2019, which is
principally engaged in the sale and distribution of furniture, and the provision of
styling and consulting services in the PRC. In January 2022, we acquired Super
Easy, which is principally engaged in the provision of consumer loan services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for FY2023 is set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for FY2023 and the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set forth in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 64 to 151 of this report.

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2023.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 B2 FR A & Annual Report %k 2023

EXeMAREAEENBT RFENEES
BERMKEZEAVBEER

FEXK

AT BB FE - #EF () LA TTREE] @& b &
MEERERKEEMEES  DHEREE (i)
[TREE) &N 80 22 7 20 88 R 7F 7T + (i) 72 A R O AR 28
TREE Café : (iv) B2 LR B AR AR : (VIR AR AT R
EAR RVIRHOBEEERRE -

RARERY - RAETELLMETREEIZE
JE - BB AR R RS A E o BAPFIR2019F5 A R R
WMLHEE - RMPREZEQEHE  BERKE -
WA R~ DBERK : ROREEH - B
BEMRM KREAEHEBRESR @®T7 %2
Ke - BARETF -

gEAN - JAMIR2018F1ZARBEEZHR - 24
ERBHRERERERLE - B5F  BWEAA
EEEEERR09FTAZMKRL E2H=E
R EE RS HERERIRERTRZ AR
%o RA2F A BB EREHEEE
PTRBHSER -

EHEE
AEENBMBFENOEBOEBNAFEE
5 W 5 R R -

MREBERRE
AEBNBHERFENEBEANRARRIEAE
B 7220233 A318 B 81 %5 AR St 8 7 7N 3 45 64
ZNENEAETFRE -

EETRFRN20VBFENRGRE -



SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2023, the Company'’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the Company's share capital are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and
of the Group during FY2023 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during FY2023 amounted to
approximately HK$72,000 (FY2022: HK$135,000).

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group, as
extracted from the Prospectus and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 is set
out on page 152 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and set out below.

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to our Group or any entity in which any member of our Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Participants

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, be entitled but shall not be
bound at any time within a period of 10 years commencing from the date
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the
grant of an option to any person belonging to the following classes:

(a)  any employee (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors (including any Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Director)) of our Company, any of our subsidiaries
(within the meaning of Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an "Eligible Employee”);

(b)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group or
any Invested Entity;

(c)  any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e} any Shareholder of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
equity who in the opinion of our Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of our Group; and
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(c)

(g any other groups or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
our Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for the grant
of an option may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more
eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company for
the subscription of shares or other securities of our Group to any person
who falls within any of the above classes of eligible participants shall
not, by itself, unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our Directors from
time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to such eligible
participant’s contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

Maximum number of shares

(a)  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by our Group shall not exceed 30% of
our share capital in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes adopted by our Group if the grant of such options will
result in the limit referred herein being exceeded.

(b)  The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
our Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of our share capital
in issue as at the date on which dealings in our shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").
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(d)

(c) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) below, our
Company may seek approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group shall not exceed 10% of
our share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit
and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of our Group) previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group will not
be counted.

(d) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above, our
Company may seek separate Shareholders” approval in general
meeting to grant options under the Share Option Scheme
beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in (c) above to eligible participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (v) below, the total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under the
Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of our issued share capital for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a grantee
would result in our shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of our share capital in issue, such
further grant shall be separately approved by our Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Grant of options to core connected persons

(a)  Without prejudice to (b) below, the making of an offer under the
Share Option Scheme to any of our Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates
shall be approved by our Independent Non-Executive Directors
(excluding any Independent Non-Executive Director who or
whose close associate is the proposed grantee of an option under
the Share Option Scheme).

(b)  Without prejudice to (a) above, where any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or our
Independent Non-Executive Director or any of their respective
associates, would result in our shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our share capital
in issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
our shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all our core connected persons shall abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our Shareholders under
paragraphs (iii), (iv) and (v) above, our Company shall send a circular to
our Shareholders containing the information required under the GEM
Listing Rules and where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote
at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the GEM
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.
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(f) Time of acceptance and exercise of an option
An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a
business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect
of all shares which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
our Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of less
than the number of shares which are offered provided that it is accepted
in respect of a board lot for dealings in our shares on GEM or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible
participant and received by our Company together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not
be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to the grantee thereof (provided always that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date of that option), and
in the absence of such determination, from the date of the grant of such
option to the earlier of (aa) the date on which such option lapses under
the relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (bb) the date
falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31
March 2023.

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees under the jurisdictions of
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
monthly income, subject to a cap of HK$1,500. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.
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At 31 March 2022 and 2023, the Group had no forfeited contribution available
to reduce its existing level of contributions to the retirement benefit schemes in
future years.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, there
is no equity-linked agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
FY2023 or subsisted at the end of FY2023.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's shares were successfully listed on GEM on 25 January 2018.
Save as the Listing, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
FY2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2023, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about
21.2% of the Group’s cost of materials and the largest supplier accounted for
about 79.2% of the cost of materials.

During FY2023, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for about
7.1% of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer accounted for about
2.8% of the total revenue.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the shares) had
any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers
referred to above.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that the Directors, Secretary and other officers and every
auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during FY2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2023 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
Mr. Bian Dahai
Mr. Bian Hongjiang
(appointed on 21 October 2022 and resigned on 20 June 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management”.

Article 112 of the Articles provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Article 108(a) to 108(c) of the Articles provides that (1) one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is a not multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at
each AGM, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years; (2) a retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting
at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Bian Dahai, Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit

Hoi Wah Kenneth will retire at the AGM and all of them, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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The Company has received written confirmations of independence from each
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Man Chung
Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which any of the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of FY2023 or at any time during FY2023.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong") and
Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”) (the “Controlling Shareholders") have entered
into the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Deed of Non-Competition
Undertakings”) in favour of the Company (for its own and on behalf of all members
of the Group) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders, irrevocably and unconditionally, undertakes and covenants with the
Company that during the period that the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings
remains effective, each of the Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure
that none of his/her/its associates (except any member of the Group), directly
or indirectly (other than through the Group) carry on, participate, hold, engage,
being interested in, acquire or operate, directly or indirectly, or provide any form of
assistance to any person, firm or company to conduct any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the Group’s existing business activity and
any business activities which may be undertaken by the Group from time to time.
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings have been set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition
Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during FY2023. The independent
non-executive Directors, having reviewed the annual declarations and made
reasonable enquiry, were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during
FY2023 and up to the date of this report.

o)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESgWE

AR A E AR R GEM -7 48 Bl 855.00 16 2 & 18 7 IF
WITESBXELE EEBAEREEES
SEAREBYMIEFHANSZSEERK - RAR
LSEH ARRNARBBIUIENITEESAE
AL e

EERXS  RPFIaHNER

BRER A TS MR AT RE1PT 4R B8 & 41 - 702023874
A [ 45 SRS o8 70202381 B F B AR T I ) - 48R
AT ] /R AN R 3 B AR T 42 X A R 3k R & I B
RAHMEB ARG ZEARRIERRHBEEE
RERIEERAFEARENERNRS - 2
HEHFE -

ERBRREBTREFHATIRSE
A

BB ERARE  BEEE(BEEDRE
BARAR(BEDIERKRR]) DS B12018
FIASBRARRRI(RERGRRAKREAEBEME
BB RRD RS AFT T 5 F G RiE (R R
FERERE]D B SERRRTAHELD
No S AGR A 3 1) AR B) R R 3 BT A 7GR IR
FAHZBEERHE  SEBRERTER KR
EHEBBEATEREAREEAKERF)TE
BEEFRAECERAAKRERINET 28 5
B RE WEAKEEAEEKESHRERE
sRAEFMAL  FRIARRBEEFMEAD
BBNAEITEM RS - MAMRF R AR
REBBREEEB TR A EE AT TEFETH
ERERBEBSBHEF - THFEAFERBNFEH
R EE [ 47 I B R M B R — T3 %A |
_ﬁﬁ o

RRAFDEESERRRAKES B R20238
BEEBTIBEFARRBERELNFEER
B BUFATEETRNENFERBARELS
BERR  EAERKRRMBERFEEE
RREAYD BT HFEEZBRNGER -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 =42 H PR X & Annual Report €3 2023



52

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EZgHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Our Executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 21 October 2022, which
may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Each of our Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and determining
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Interests and short positions of the Company's
Directors and chief executives in the Company’s
shares, underlying shares and debentures and the
Company'’s associated corporations

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the Company's
Directors in the Company's shares, underlying shares or debentures which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register as referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of
dealings” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Long position in the Company’s shares
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i) RELXIRODOER

Number of Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held™ shareholding
EEgL EEME FERBEHEBD REB DL
Mr. Tong (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%
e e A ) RRIEEENE = (H5T2)
Beneficial owner 61,900,000 3.91%
EmfEAA
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Interest in a controlled corporation 59,400,000 (L) 3.75%
(“Ms. Bahington”) (Note 3)
Mary Kathleen Babington % + PSR A B A R 2 (P RES)
([Babington Z 1)
Mr. Bian Dahai (“Mr. Bian”) Beneficial Owner 8,000,000 (L) 0.51%
EREBEE(RBEED EmEAA
Notes: B 5
1. The letter “L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FERIUEZALTRZERGFHO(FE]

XV of the SF0) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop. Tiptop is wholly-owned
by Mr. Tong.

3. The Company is owned as to 3.75% by Rothley Investment Limited
(“Rothley”). Rothley is wholly-owned by Ms. Babington. Under the SFO,
Ms. Babington is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Rothley.
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3. Rothley Investment Limited ([Rothley]) # &
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Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 March 2023, none of the Company’s
Directors and chief executives and their respective associates had or is deemed
to have any interest or short positions in the Company's shares, underlying
shares or debentures or the Company's associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred
to herein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of dealing” as contained in
Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Interests and short positions of substantial
Shareholders in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares and debentures and the Company’s associated
corporations

As at 31 March 2023, so far as the Company's Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Company’s
shares or underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who, directly or indirectly, were interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any member of the Company:

(i)  Long position in the Company's shares

br EX AT B EIN - BE2023F3A3IH - AR
FIEERETBHRABUREESEMNHE A
BERAARRKRMD - BEROKERER AR
R EE (TR REBHFRBEEMIEXVED) F
BERWRAEBTARIEESFRBEEGE
XVEREBT7 52850 &B 78 &N & 2NN A) K Wi &2 P ) i =
AR (BEREREZLFRBEKABEIE
NEEERBBEENERRAR)  HIREFE
5 I% 23 516 01 55 35216 78 B 50 B B% 16 P = R0 iR
MR A R HIRIECEM EMRBIEREFR
B[R 5 ST 12 | A& ARA ) M B R AT 89 i

SC g K A
mIORAE ©

FERRRAQXARG - HEROK
BRERURAKRAR BB EE B
EERXAE

MARNTEEA - N2023538318 » FFIA+
(ARREBERERITHABRINRARR K
MEBEERNDTFHEERWEREBREZTHFR
BB EXVELFE2 %35 2678 M & AN A KB
RETMERS AR  KEEREEREN G R
FAI R — B R T EARRME MK E R R
BAGLERANEAMERNBRAHBHETARR
TE P10 5% 3K bA - Ry RE 25

i) RELXIRDOER

Interests in Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares" shareholding
BREWE EE EEME BRHER REBDL
Tiptop Beneficial owner (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%
278 EmEE AT

Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna Interest of spouse (Note 3) 807,760,000 (L) 50.99%
Szt Bic 45 4 2= (B 3E3)

Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Beneficial owner (Note 4) 133,240,000 (L) 8.41%

Co., Limited
RITMEEREBEERAR BEmEA AT
Ms. Yang Songmei Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5) 133,240,000 (L) 8.41%

Yang Songmei %2 £ X1 RTE 2w (M FE5)
Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop.
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3. Tiptop is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong, the Company's Chairman, one of the
Company’s Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders. Ms. Shum
Yuet Wah Anna is the spouse of Mr. Tong. Under the SFO, Ms. Shum
Yuet Wah Anna is deemed to be interested in all the Company's shares in
which Mr. Tong is interested.

4. The Company is owned as to 8.41% by Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Co.,
Limited.

5. Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Co., Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Yang
Songmei, is interested in 133,240,000 ordinary share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the
issued voting shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2023 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

COMPETING BUSINESS AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST

As confirmed by the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and their respective
close associates do not have any interests in any business, apart from the
business operated by members of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during FY2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Directors
confirm that the Company maintained the public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During FY2023, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 20.71 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions carried in the ordinary
course of business are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 28 to 41 of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2023 were audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the independent auditor, who shall retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
TREE Holdings Limited

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

20 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Q Grant Thornton
- HE

To the members of Tree Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tree Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
64 to 151, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Qur responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

B EFTEH
MREAFHEERBERMANERHE  RAY
AHREEMBRRNEAZRA/EENEE - &
LERARERMEAERGAVBHRRLER
ERRETREN HMTSHELEREH
BERENER -

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
ERENEE BN ERNNEEBEREENSEE
Impairment assessment of goodwill

BERE

Refer to Notes 2.19, 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

256 M REM 7E219 - 3K%16 ©

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was
approximately HK$8,694,000.

R20234F3A31H » B REEEERE S #8498,694,00078
T o

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment of goodwill
at least annually. For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill
has been allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of furniture
agency services. The management had made an assessment of the
recoverable amount of the underlying CGU, with reference to an
independent external valuation conducted at the end of the reporting
period. Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
management, an impairment loss of HK$14,732,000 was provided for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

EEBEEAZ L FFHBHEETRENG - RETHE
i AEESEZEGREARERBOREELEN B
BEELRNIE R EITH B /N0 k(B 77 14 48
ReELEUNATKREEE - RIEEEBHETHRE
FEfE - BE2023F3ANEIFE - BERER14732,0078

JG ©

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to its significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the significant estimates and judgements involved in the
calculation of recoverable amount of the underlying CGU about future
market conditions, including the growth rate of revenue and discount
rate applied in the calculation.
HREEREN GG BHRAMEBEEAR  B5tE
HBAIR & EE B AL A U El & 58 R H R R TR B E KIG
AR AE (BREAERAERANKRRERERITREK)
WMEMEEEREFERNAEREFEE -

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
included the following:

BMEEREREFENEZEFREATEERE:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer;
BN DL ERD A K - e S

5 AvAN

EREBLEESR

Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used in the impairment assessment;

AFEARREFENGEETZREEE:

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted
by the management in calculating the recoverable amount
based on our knowledge of the business and industry;
ERBMEEBRITENRATEEREETHE
AlEeHESRANEIERRESTAE:

Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliability of the
input data used; and
MBS ABRBEESEERASE: R

Considering management's sensitivity analysis with respect to
variations of key assumptions adopted, to evaluate the extent
to which reasonably possible changes would result in change
to the outcome of the impairment assessment.
EZEEEBERMRMNIERJ[EDINHERED
#r - LATE & B2 A 17 6 B A AT ik 7] B S ORUE T (4 4
REKBHHAIEED -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B R BARE

BERETEE®

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
ERETEE BN ERUNEEBREETSE
Allowance of inventories

FEBE

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial

statements.

2GR a B mEM T2 - 3K%I18 ©

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had inventories of approximately
HK$14,262,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value.

M2023F3A31H - BEBEMTFEL E4262, 000,%71 °
FENAKARSA IR FEMRE TSR

Allowance for inventories requires management to make significant
accounting estimates and judgements. These include identification
of damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories and assessing
the level of allowance required by estimating the net realisable value
of inventories, which is the actual or estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

FERESREREFLERGHHARALE 1
BB BHEREGFEULBEBAEAFENER

S8 (BN 5 1838 75 o A BB o T 45 (R AL L 3 6 A
40 ff 5t 2K) A R KT -

We identified the allowance of inventories as a key audit matter as
the estimation of the net realisable value of inventories involved
significant estimates and judgements made by management. These
estimations are also subject to uncertainty as a result of change of
competitor actions and market condition.

HREFFEAZREFESINHEREEIEHNE XM
AR HE - RBASFEREREANSEREFEE A

BEATEBRFETRETNEH TR I EERNZY
@

Our audit procedures in relation to allowance of inventories included
the following:
BMAHETERENERREFER/ATRIEA:

Assessing the reasonableness of the basis used by
management in identifying damaged, slow moving and
obsolete inventories;
AEERENBRIER
WEEREAE:

CHEEREFERER

Attending the year-end inventory count to observe the physical
conditions of inventories and identify damaged or obsolete

inventories;
— PEFRGFEES UBERTFTEMNERMR R K#
FMEZXIRERFE

Testing the accuracy of the inventory ageing report, on a
sample basis, by checking to the purchase source documents;
FERREBERRXMG  MEAIAFEERR®RSE
T HAEME

Testing the net realisable value of inventory items, on a
sample basis, to the selling price subsequent to the year end;
and
MEARFEEEAER FERFAREEE R
Evaluating the appropriateness of management's assessment
of the estimated future utilisation of inventory items
without subsequent sales with reference to their ageing and

marketability of the relevant inventory items.

— SEFEHREMERKEHEE FEEEERRN
TEEKBHENBERTHBFERBENMBERK
ERBERMELHNFRELEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEETTER

BRETEEH®
How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RMNERNAEERREAER

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables and
loan receivables

EZRAMBURBEARBERERNRERHE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
2R a M m &M 210 - 3%19 ©

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had trade and other receivables
and loan receivables of approximately HK$38,710,000 (net of ECL
allowance of HK$110,000) and HK$10,708,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$35,000), respectively, which falls within the scope of expected
credit losses (“ECL") model for impairment assessment.
M20234F3A3H » BERENE S K H A & W kI LA K
FE W B 5k 5 Bl 49 /438,710,000 st (BB B EA (5 B & 18
1% 4K #9110,0007% 7T) 210,708,000 7T (B Bk T8 B2 B /5
BHEEA3B0008 ) RAETEMEENREREES
BENGER -

The Group recognises ECL allowance based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation based on the Group’s past history, existing market
condition and forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period.
EEEERENRARRIRTENEEERRAERRFEE
BiEEE - EEENMEFEBREIUREAEMAE
ABER AR EEEBELR RITHARERE
MR EEGTT BT ERHE -

We identified the provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables and loan receivables as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and significant
degree of management’s estimation and judgement are involved in
assessing the ECL allowance.
HRESREMERRENRERGEE GRS B R
mMEBEXR BFEEPEEERERSRHEREF
HE R R FIET - I E 5 R B A JE 4 5k IE 8 R
EREIRN SERETEE -

Our audit procedures in relation to provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables and loan receivables included the following:

BMAEES R H R IE L K& &K E RO E 2 H e
BEREFRBEATEE:

Understanding management’s assessment of ECL allowance
on trade and other receivables and loan receivables;
THREBREHES R HAib B RIE L K B E K
ZHEHEEEBRHENT G

Assessing the reasonableness of estimates and judgement
made by management on ECL allowance by examining the
information used by management to form such judgements;
FRESCEEENRENEEEEEBEEELNA
BRERANER FHEEERTEREEBES
HEEHH Mt RAB SRS E:

Testing, on a sample basis, the ageing report by comparing
with the relevant invoices and other supporting documents for
trade receivables and loan agreements for loan receivables;

— HEFRAFEREBERERNERLHENS B
BHBAEREEEMERXM - M KRER

oy

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ECL allowance
using the ECL rates adopted by the Group; and

TR EEEMRBNEREERESR  WME®
EEHEEREERERTER K

Evaluating the appropriateness of the ECL rates applied for
loan receivables by reference to the historical recovery rates,
probability of default, exposure at default, loss given default
and forward-looking information with the assistance of our
valuation specialists.

EREZERNOBHT EH2EELKDE - &7
WATee Mt BARER  BEOBELAEMLER
h FEEHACEEEEXETHEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2023 annual report of the Company, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

B R BARE

Htt 58
E=FYHEMELAE - EMESBEMET
#HRN BERFNBFFRANES  ETRESK
BB HRERRBMNZBERS

BB GRAMBRRNEREL VREEMESR -
BT AHZEREMERRRTARANES

THEEMERS EHBREFT EREMER
EREGAMBRIABMEEZBRETAT
ROBRAFEEREBAEUTFFHEEANER
R BER - ERHMCHITOITIE WRHK
MRREMEEFEENERRL  HMFE
BEZEE -EETE BOREEFBRS -

EENARAMBRRARXKENE
£
EFARBREEL BB RAGOES
BT S A R B (R AR D) B L
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BROBETFERRFRERMIRMNEX
5 SR R AL T 78 40 PO 3P 42 B O

ERESAVBERRE  EFR M
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HEif BRIFEEAER EEEBFRAGLE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 B2 FR A & Annual Report %k 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

20 June 2023

Kwok Siu Kwan, Sylvia
Practising Certificate No.: P06616
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SGEREREMEZERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2023 2022
20235 20224F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
b &F FET FET
Revenue I = 4 78,194 95,913
Cost of sales 5 E R A (26,610) (32,391)
Gross profit EF 51,584 63,522
Other income R ON 5 9,070 711
Selling and marketing expenses HE RMISZHER X (33,243) (33,400)
Administrative expenses TTH R X (22,518) (26,775)
Fair value change on contingent ERSARENRAABEE S
consideration payable — 3,362
Reversal of provision for impairment of B 5 & EAb fE UG IE A K&
trade and other receivables and loan JEUWE KA R B R E R e S
receivables, net 345 410
Provision for impairment of goodwill DAL 16 (14,732) —
Finance costs B 7 B R 6 (794) (849)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRETB LA (B]), EF 7 (10,288) 6,981
Income tax expense FrE i 9 (762) (1,751)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributableto AATEZZEAEBEER
equity holders of the Company (B8])&F (11,050) 5,230
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEEWE(BAX)
(expense) for the year
Items that will be reclassified subsequently H 7 5 2 %7 5> 48 2 18 25 £ 8 H
to profit or loss
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation MEFINEBE B IREK D
of financial statements of foreign PE 5 Uz (§518)
operations 49 (273)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ EREIERBFEAEBEFARAEE
income for the year attributable to (X)) WEHEHE
equity holders of the Company (11,001) 4,957
(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable AT EZFEAEEER
to equity holders of the Company (&#]) &R
(expressed in HK cents per share) (A= B BAL Y] 7R)
— Basic and diluted — HEARR#E 11 (0.70) 0.33

The notes on pages 68 to 151 are an integral part of these consolidated 556871515 FT 8 i 5 T AR 47 & B 75 3R R &9 48 Ak
financial statements. ' e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R E BRI R

As at 31 March 2023 72202343 A31H

2023 2022
20235 20224F
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
io=3 FETT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L 13 13,810 14123
Intangible assets mEEE 14 m 173
Goodwill (RS 16 8,694 23,426
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBLHRESER 7 1,978 1,913
Loan receivables & U B 3K 19 228 —
Prepayments for acquisition of property, WHE¥ % « B E K& HEEMHE
plant and equipment 19 — 150
Deferred tax assets LT IRE E 25 416 466
25,237 40,251
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 14,262 10,349
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b e sk I8 19 38,710 40,849
Loan receivables & U & 3K 19 10,480 1,050
Tax recoverable EIRLQCIE R 1,623 282
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB MRS 20 9,479 22,185
74,554 74,715
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5N E RN R IE 21 22,852 23137
Contract liabilities aRaE 22 5,917 8211
Bank borrowings RITHEE 23 6,464 6,493
Lease liabilities HEAR 24 8,195 8,905
43,428 46,746
Net current assets REBEEFEE 31,126 27,969
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAR 56,363 68,220
Non-current liabilities kRBARB
Lease liabilities HEGE 24 4,684 5,540
Net assets FEE 51,679 62,680
EQUITY ER
Share capital EgN 26 15,840 15,840
Reserves & 35,839 46,840
Total equity BER 51,679 62,680
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B HrE®E
Director Director
EE -

The notes on pages 68 to 151 are an integral part of these consolidated — S568Z 1515 T & MY 7t Th AR 47 & BF 75 3 R 9 48 BX
financial statements. oo
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

Retained
profits*/
Share Share Capital Exchange (Accumulated Total
capital premium* reserve® reserve® losses) equity
REEF*
kA& ROEE* ExREET ERRE (RFER) BER
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET TFET
(Note 27(3)) (Note 27(b))
(Hiz276) (K E)
Balance at 1 April 2021 RWNFIAIBNE 15,840 31,564 5474 291 17226 70,395
Profit for the year FREF — — - - 5,230 5,230
Other comprehensive expense Hit2EME X
— Exchange loss on translation of —AEBNEBTE
financial statements of foreign BEMELER
operations — — — (273) — (273)
Total comprehensive income/ ER2ERE/ (X
(expense) for the year aE — — — (273) 5230 4,957
— Dividend paid (Vote 10) —ENBREW #10) — — — — (12,672) (12,672)
Balance at 31 March 2022 and R02F3ANB K
1 April 2022 WREIABR 5 15,840 31,564 5474 8 9,784 62,680
Loss for the year FRER — — — — (11,050) (11,050)
Other comprehensive income A2 B s
— Exchange gain on translation of —AEBNEBHE
financial statements of foreign el e
operations — — — 49 — 49
Total comprehensive (expense)) ~ FRZE (%) K
income for the year am — — — 49 (11,050) (11,001)
Balance at 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31A M & &4 15,840 31,564 5,474 67 (1,266) 51,679

*

The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$35,839,000 (2022:

HK$46,840,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 68 to 151 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERLRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHFEHRERE
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BAGE A (E1R), % A (10,288) 6,981
Adjustments for: HTHIEBELNFE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BERZENE 10,103 1,177
Amortisation of intangible assets BREEEE 62 63
Interest income FLEMA (10) (3)
Interest expenses FMERX 794 849
COVID-19-related rent concessions received 2 URCOVID-19tE B 7 & E Al (148) —
Gain on termination of lease RIEHE RS (778) —
Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment ~ #1% « BB Mk & BB & = 728
Provision for impairment of goodwill HERERE 14,132 —
Reversal of provision for impairment of trade and other B 5 & H At FE R IE A K
receivables and loan receivables, net JE U B R R (B B R S R (345) (410)
Fair value change on contingent consideration payable ERNAAREBHNALEBED — (3,362)
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life insurance ABRBRHEBHRESEED
AAEERKE (65) (66)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes EEESHHANLERERE 14,061 15,957
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories TFEGEM,wD (3913) 1,469
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 & H ftn W 5B R 2,480 16,100
Increase in loan receivables e =gl (9,658) (1,050)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables BH N H i ERZREBECRD),/ (285) 4,389
Decrease in contract liabilities EHAERD (2.294) (3.927)
Cash generated from operations reEmERe 391 32,938
Income tax paid BHFER (1,899) (6,173)
Interest received B F B 10 3
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities LT () EEEEE (1,498) 26,768
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBMBHERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME BERRHE (522) (407)
Prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment W 88 %0 % - = MR BB B — (150)
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33c)) U i — T B B 1 B O 1 3R (B 72:331c)) — (50)
Subsequent payment for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 37) W& — FE1 PN B 2 A) #O EL 18 N 5k (B 3232) — (7,000)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHIHHEFH (522) (7,607)
Cash flows from financing activities BETHMEBHRESRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEMBHIA 31,323 21,369
Repayment of bank borrowings EBEBETEE (31,352) (23,633)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEABENELRSS (9,912) (10,033)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBBENF SIS (440) (609)
Interests paid BEfHE (354) (240)
Dividend paid BEfEE — (12,672)
Net cash used in financing activities BETHAH L FHE (10,735) (25,818)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBRLEEYRL FHE (12,755) (6.657)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes IEEREFHTE 49 (298)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year RENNESRREEED 22,185 29,140
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, FRESRESEEY URTES
represented by bank balances and cash kRER® 9479 22,185

The notes on pages 68 to 151 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

o e

FEOEII A B E AL A M ERROAK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tree Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O.
Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is 28/F., Horizon Plaza, 2 Lee Wing Street, Ap

Lei Chau, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
distribution and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution
and licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling,
consulting and furniture agency services and the operation of a café.

The directors consider the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company to be Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”), a company

incorporated in Samoa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 were approved for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2023.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
21 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the accounting principles

generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

21

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continved)

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's consolidated
financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 2.2.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for cash surrender value of
life insurance and contingent consideration payable which are
carried at fair value. The measurement bases are fully described
in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on the management’s
best knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policy
(a) Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 April 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
which are relevant to the Group’s operations and effective
for the Group's consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 April 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combination
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

2. FES

AT EBE w2

22 S BEXEE (&)

(a)  Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual (a) M2022F4R1BFRBHNEEDY
periods beginning on 1 April 2022 (Continued) BERNRETEEUBERE
B (#&)
The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material NS B A 15 5 2%
impact on how the results and financial position for AR K 25 A EIfE R A
the current and prior periods have been prepared and MM EA R RHEL
presented. mERNTE -
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs () CEAEERERNEEBTK
R 2 2 Al
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated RAGEMBRRERER
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs B BETHIREETNES
have been published but are not yet effective, and have MR EEDEMEERE
not been adopted early by the Group: B BREREERBEEN:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and EANBRELEN RBREOREHE
related amendments' E17% H
Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets BEMBREEN REFHAREN
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FORREAEE AREELEZ
Associate or Joint Venture? FEHERRN BMEELER
EHE EE
Amendments to HKFRS  Lease Liability in a Sale and EANBRERN EXHECAESR
16 Leaseback? ZBRMETR B
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities FREGENFR RAELEARY
as Current or Non-current WA YERBRER
and related amendments to REEWNAE
Hong Kong Interpretation 52 EHES
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BEEGHENZIS NELENERD
Covenants? A B
BESHENSR SHBRBRE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting METAREE
and HKFRS Practice Policies' BEREEANE
Statement 2 BHAER
Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting BRQITENENS eHAHNTER
Estimates' ORI
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets ERQHENE? HE-RFMEL
and Liabilities arising from a REBIAR BEREBEEE
Single Transaction! MELHE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 72023491 A1H =k LA 1% B 1A
January 2023 BFEHIR AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 202451518 3 LA & B 44
January 2024 #FE BB ER
3 Effective date not yet determined 3 ERBE & ST
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

23

Changes in accounting policy (Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of
the pronouncement. The new and amended HKFRSs are
not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary
in the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group’s perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary
is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable

costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or

loss.

2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets include an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. The acquired process is considered
substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organised workforce
with necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that
process or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue
producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability

to continue producing outputs.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the

acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHHEREBER)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Continued)

24 WHEKMBARE)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition—date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group transferred in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the measurement
period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one
year from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting
for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not subsequently
remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity. Contingent consideration classified as a financial
liahility is subsequently remeasured at each reporting dates at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Continued)

2.5

Asset acquisitions

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are assessed
to determine if they are business or asset acquisitions. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group chooses to apply a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is an asset rather than business acquisition, when
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar
identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed do not
constitute a business, the overall acquisition cost is allocated
to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition. An exception is
when the sum of the individual fair values of the identifiable
assets and liabilities differs from the overall acquisition cost. In
such case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that are initially
measured at an amount other than cost in accordance with the
Group’s policies are measured accordingly, and the residual
acquisition cost is allocated to the remaining identifiable assets
and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of
acquisition.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
("HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

2.6

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date). When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit
or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a
non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in equity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-use
assets as described in Note 2.14) are initially recognised at
acquisition cost. They are subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Over the lease term
20%—30%

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures and

office equipment
Motor vehicles 30%
Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set
out in Note 2.14.

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.1

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance,
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an
asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (Note 2.19).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Website development costs

Costs that are directly attributable to development of specific
websites, which include external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing the website are recognised
as intangible assets provided they meet all of the following
recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(ii) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

(i)~ the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be
reliably measured.

Capitalised website development costs with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.
Research and other development costs relating to website
development and website maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)
Trademarks

Trademarks are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, the trademarks with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Amortisation
commences when the trademarks are available for use. The
amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Money lender licence

Money lender licence with indefinite useful lives is carried at

cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives are

tested for impairment as described below in Note 2.19.

2.9 Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is

extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHTHEHME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved) 29 €T HE (%)

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories:

—  amortised cost;

—  FVTPL; or

— fairvalue through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity’s business model for managing the financial
asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within “finance costs”,
“other income” or other financial items, except for expected
credit losses (“ECL") of trade and other receivables and loan
receivables which is presented as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continuead)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets
meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

—  they are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual

cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in “other income” in profit or
loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting
is immaterial. The Group's trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and bank balances and cash fall into this category of

financial assets.

Financial assets at FV/TPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model
other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell’ are
categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model,
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
The Group's cash surrender value of life insurance falls into this

category of financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEEHHRBE#

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued) 29 €T HE (%)
Financial liabilities cEmas
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities TEBEN DR E

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and contingent consideration
payable.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for
transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability
at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives which are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships and financial liabilities
designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value
with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument's fair value that are reported in profit or loss are
included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the bank borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Contingent consideration payable

Contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value
at the end of each reporting period with gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking
Instruments
within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial

information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.

assets measured at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

210 eMEERE R

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or
that have low credit risk (“Stage 1"); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit
risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for loan receivables and
other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or technological
environment that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

210

21

212

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when (i) information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group); or (ii) the
loan receivables and financial asset is 180 days and 365 days
past due, respectively.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
Note 34.2.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less applicable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand.

2. FESHTHEHME )

210

21

212

TRMEERBE®
ERERAHBNEMEREE
()

T ERFHnER AEERER
Emﬁﬁ % A R BO0E B - (5 B
% B 8 ) 14 T 72 DA R B 18 0
ﬁﬁ%@ﬁé@&ﬂﬁﬁi%mé

B BAMIER - BIERH -

ﬁﬂﬁit%‘ﬁ 1512111%%%1,&‘
EREHREETRABREERER
E'JZIKEITF““LJ““IE:E’J Zfﬁ
BARERARL RBER - KZD
BEHTANENARK  EEAF
REBLNEHANENANRER
B mEEMEERENREHN

THMEHAE(ERBHEIBEEREA
ENAHREREBOEN  BE

BIASTAAGEEERR -

HRABEERRERME - )R
I 7E A SN BB AR IS R B LR R
BBEATKAIREZ A ERA (B
AEB)ER(KRFARAKEREN

EAERD) KijEREZ RS R
& E D Rl #1180H 3658  BIARE
ERAEEENEME -

BB 5 EWGRIE R IR # A A G
ENHEMEREENTHEREREER
A Al B 5 4B O AT 80 MY 52342 o

rE
FERKAET R FENRES
SIRR o FRANTSE R DM F R R E
E-AERFEAAREBAERESD
MGt EBRERNEERS -

RERBESEEY
ReRREEENRERBIRT
EHRSD -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 =42 H PR X & Annual Report €3 2023



86

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

213

214

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

o the contracts contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available
to the Group;

° the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

° the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct 'how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHTHEHME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of warehouse, office and shop premises in
which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to separate
non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is
measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of
the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group,
an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any lease
incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
payments based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

° there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

° the lease payments changes due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHTHEHME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
modification. The only exception is any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and
recognised the change in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment
is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the
right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group as a lessor
As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or
finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does
not.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sub-leases as two separate contracts. The
sub-leases are classified as a finance or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
not with reference to the underlying asset. If the head lease is
a short-term lease to which the Group applies the short-term
lease exemption, then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an

operating lease.

The Group sub-leases one of its properties and the sub-lease

contract is classified as operating leases.

Other than rental income from sub-lease of properties, the Group
also earns rental income from operating leases of furniture and
home accessories. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the term of the lease.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted

to reflect the current best estimate.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs

directly attributable to the equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.17 Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sale, distribution and rental of
furniture and home accessories, distribution and licencing of
intellectual property rights, the provision of styling, consulting
and furniture agency services, the operation of a café and the
provision of consumer loan services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a
5-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer

Identifying the performance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied

e~

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for
a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of furniture and home accessories

Revenue from the sale of furniture and home accessories is
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers the
control of the assets to the customers upon delivery.

Distribution and license fee income

Fixed upfront distribution and license fee is recognised over time
on a straight-line basis over the terms of distribution agreement
and license period. License fee income from the licensing
arrangement is recognised over time on an accrual basis in
accordance with the terms of agreements.

FTESHEREBE )

217 W EER

WHFEREEERREREMHEE
DEEEE  DHERFAERNE
ERE - RHRE  FRALRKERE
BRTS - 8% — RN oF B A R B 4108
BEEERRS -

RETROEAWE  AEBHBER
R fERRR -

BHEEPITLINAH
BRIENEE
EERSER
HRXHBEROIEEEDEL

L~ -

5. WN/HEBEERTROETRER
Y &

ERMBEBRAT AN HERE
BEBNRTNHEYBLEED K
EXRENEMLE - AV BERT
BREARFE=TTRROERMDEE -

EEBEAEEEATEFPBERED
AHEEmARBETEOEELE
WX — R HE R RBEREER -

7N 52 B M g R E A U T B2 ISR Y
E—FFHBOT:

BERREEGHEE
ERASERINREBEEZH#S
ETEPR REMREEMIHEE
MU ST — BRI ZhFE R -

DERFAEERA

B E R AT ) 3 R FF A AR B R ) 8
15 % B RF AT A BARR A A B AR MR B
By P HEAR o IR TR Ak R 50 - R AT 48
LHMELNFRAIEER AR R
HEEREER -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 =42 H PR X & Annual Report €3 2023



92

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

217

218

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Food and beverage income

Food and beverage income from the operation of a café is
recognised at a point in time when the related services are
rendered to the customers.

Commission income

Commission income from (i) consignment sales are recognised
at a point in time when the goods are sold by the Group; and (ii)
furniture agency services is recognised at a point in time when
the services are performed.

Consulting income
Consulting income is recognised at a point in time when the
services are performed.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
ECL allowance) of the asset.

Rental income
Accounting policies for rental income are set out in Note 2.14.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under
“Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets

219 FEemEERE

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and the Company's investment in a subsidiary are subject
to impairment testing.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
synergies of the related business combination and represent the
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not be larger than an
operating segment.

WENBARELENEE  HME
WEE W% BMELREBRERE
REEE)ARARRARHE QB
BRERETRER -

EEREMAEAERT®ESR
AERNETLEERD>BFANFA—
REE THRESEANPTRET
EELRRBE -FMEEMEERR
EFRBATEENRAS BRI
B W 13 8558 SR (A -

BWEBEBRDEEREASEBMAIK
Cl&REMERE - HAEERARY -
e BEERETISRIOAAR
1ﬁfﬁﬁﬁjﬁﬁ$&@ﬁﬁfﬁ@ﬁ@$}m
EETE - STEERAEER  FEER
RREMEABRAFTREFRER
B ZTBEERMRERMSEHSEE
MEREEFBRBROTMG -

ATERE REEEENRSR
AWIERK EBILREME EME
EF AIRESBMEABLELR
ERANTRNEEMAR IR E
EBMN)EE - lkv%ﬁﬁégm
AR BB E \M&ﬁ@éi%
u@%tﬁmm a] 5 B & 2 i
ERBMELER A TﬁFA“Mi
BRREEESEN BRISEZEA
FRAEGEMEANEENR/NRS
EXSBAR  BmELESRETE
HRERER A HNBRKES S
HENHRSCELEN YALXEER
ARNISEEENEREENRER
Bl B AR EEDEB -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 =42 H PR X & Annual Report €3 2023



94

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

2.20 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”), for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Employee henefits (continued)

2.2

Equity-settled share-based compensation

In January 2018, the Group adopted a Share Option Scheme (as
defined in Note 28) under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of options granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions; and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. The
Group recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or
the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continved) 222 FiBHEgstEE (2)

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
income of the periods in which the temporary differences are
expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences will
reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in those years.
The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net
if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continved)
The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

2.23 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers (the “CODM"). The CODM, who are responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that make strategic decisions.

2.24 Related parties
For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person's
family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Related parties (continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.19. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates about future cash flows and discount rates. In the
process of estimating expected future cash flows, management makes
assumptions about future revenues and profits. These assumptions
relate to future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary
and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill
within the next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate
involves estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for
asset specific risk factors. Details of the estimates of the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill are disclosed in
Note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continved)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the actual or estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor
actions in response to changes in market condition. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are
disclosed in Note 18.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost within the scope of ECL under
HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade
and other receivables and loan receivables) based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period as set out in Note 2.10. As at 31 March 2023, the
carrying amount of trade and other receivables and loan receivables
amounted to HK$34,004,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$110,000)
(2022: HK$36,316,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$490,000))
and HK$10,708,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$35,000) (2022:
HK$1,050,000 (net of ECL allowance of nil)), respectively.

When the actual future cash flows are different from expected,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group's major product and service lines.

The business of consumer loan services was commenced during the last
quarter of year ended 31 March 2022 and growing during the year ended
31 March 2023. The Group has identified the following three (2022: two)
reportable segments:

o Furniture sale and consultancy services: the sale, distribution
and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution and
licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling
and consulting services and the operation of a café.

° Furniture agency services: the provision of furniture agency
services
o Consumer loan services: the provision of consumer loan services

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the product and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.

The measurement policies the Group used for reporting segment results
under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the same as those used in
its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that income
tax expense and corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any reportable segment are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the reportable segment.

Reportable segment assets exclude cash surrender value of life
insurance, deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, bank balances and cash
and unallocated corporate assets (mainly include certain right-of-use
assets, certain intangible assets and certain other receivables).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

Reportable segment liabilities exclude tax payable and unallocated

corporate liabilities (mainly include certain lease liabilities and certain

other payables).

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

WKk EHER @

B2 3R BB 15 0 4 R A B E B ok P AR
(CTEREETHERERET

AEEM T BESH N A IS HE M

W -

AEBERNFABBOREWT

2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F&r

Revenue from contracts with customers EEEH W R
Sale of furniture and home accessories FRERRERMIHEE 69,398 80,910
Distribution and license fee income DI RFFAIEERA — 800
Food and beverage income B &R A 3,374 3818
Commission income el A 5,306 9,821
Consulting income U A — 511
78,078 95,860

Revenue from other sources Hfth 3R R UK &=
Rental income HaeWA 116 53
78,194 95,913
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over
time and at a point in time in the following geographical market:

4. WRRDHER @)

KB RMBRELER S5
BRANEFENWKE

7 55 B ) Mt R 0 T 1 558 A
RRE— BRI S B R R -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FE T

Timing of revenue recognition W %5 7 R
At a point in time RE— R E 78,078 95,060
Over time W& B ) — 800
78,078 95,860

Geographical markets & %

— Hong Kong —B% 75,920 90,190
— The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") —HhEARAME(HE]) 2,158 5,670
18,078 95,860

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no single customer
contributed 10% or more of the Group's revenue.

As at 31 March 2023, 95.4% (2022: 91.1%) of the Group's gross trade

receivables was due from a single customer in the furniture agency
services segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHERDBER 2
(Continued)
Furniture
sale and Furniture
consultancy agency Consumer loan
services services services Total
GERHEER HE HEE
EELE K2R % EXRB @t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FAET
2023 2023
Reportable segment revenue from external customers R B 9NEF R 87 £ ) H
g 73,007 5,007 - 78,194
Reportable segment profit/(loss) AEHHBEA/(BB) 2,001 (12,753) 2429 (8323)
Reportable segment assets AEZRAHEE 35,057 38,567 12,443 86,067
Reportable segment liabilities AZRAHEE 21,201 2,442 1,076 4,9
Depreciation ne& 9,525 — 578 10,103
Amortisation 8 62 — — 62
Finance costs BB A 500 255 39 794
Additions to non-current segment assets (other than  ERRE R D HEE
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) (ERMIAREILERE
during the year BERIN 9,790 — — 9,790
Gain on termination of lease BIEHERR (178) — — (178)
Provision for impairment of goodwill BERERE — 14,732 — 14,732
Reversal of provision for impairment of trade and other & 5 & £ {t FE YT Z0IE LA |
receivables and loan receivables, net B 0 5 0 A O 1 A
%5 = (380) 35 (345)
Furniture sale Furniture
and consultancy agency
services services Total
REHEER A
@RS RERE @t
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FETL FET FET
2022 2022
Reportable segment revenue from external customers 78 B SM S8 & F &) ] £ 38 7 85 4 %5 86,227 9,686 95,913
Reportable segment profit BEX SRl 6,995 2,064 9,059
Reportable segment assets AZRAHNEE 32,139 54,877 87,016
Reportable segment liabilities AEHHHEE 21,326 23,992 51,318
Depreciation nE 1177 — 1177
Amortisation B 63 — 63
Finance costs A 668 181 849
Additions to non-current segment assets (other than  FRREF RPN HEE (B TARE
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) EHBEEERIN
during the year 9,623 — 9,623
Provision for impairment of property, plant and ME - HER
equipment RERERE 728 — 728
Reversal of provision for impairment of trade BHRENTBERERE
receivables — (410) (410)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEEDEBER 2
(Continued)
Reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities are reconciled to results EWmoH RN  EERBGEHEASEERN

and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as follows: % ia UERBREERGLABRHERNT:
2023 2022
2023 20224
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A2MmoyEB(BE),RE (8,323) 9,059
Unallocated amounts: KRB FOA
— Corporate income and expense — 2RI ARAX (1,965) (2,078)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BT S B AT (B B), I F (10,288) 6,981
Reportable segment assets EWMOHEE 86,067 87,016
Unallocated assets: ﬂi fig & = -
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — ANERBHBRLIREEE 1,978 1,913
— Deferred tax assets —IREFIAE E 416 466
— Tax recoverable — AJ g B F 1 1,623 282
— Bank balances and cash —RTTEHREERS 9,479 22,185
— Unallocated corporate assets — RPBEARIEE 228 3,104
Total assets WEE 99,791 114,966
Reportable segment liabilities AEWmoEar 44,7119 51,318
Unallocated liabilities: KB ﬁ f,%
— Unallocated corporate liabilities FNa ABE 3,393 968
Total liabilities we ﬁ 48,112 52,286

The revenue from external customers and its non-cur
than financial instruments and deferred tax assets)
divided into the following geographical areas:

rent assets (other
of the Group are

AEBEHREIBELHOWE MIERBE
EEBTAREEHAEERINEDR
LA [

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

RENBEFHKE kRBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022

20234 20224 20235 20224

HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FET FET FHET

Hong Kong — BB 76,036 90,243 22,615 37,872
The PRC — 2,158 5,670 — —
78,194 95,913 22,615 37,872
The geographical location of customers is based on the location at EPMMIEBEMNENUNRERBEIERIM

which the services were provided or the goods delivered.

The geographical location of non-current assets is bas
location of the asset and the location of the operations

ed on the physical
to which they are

allocated in the case of intangible assets and goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

OTHER INCOME 5. Hfi A
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Bank interest income AT A B A 10 3
COVID-19-related rent concessions received B Y CovID-194/8 A 1 & E A 148 —
Gain on termination of lease LIEHEE W e 774 —
Government grants (Note) BB (1 7E) 1,508 470
Sundry income TR A 860 222
Interest income from loan receivables FEUE A B A 5,770 16
9,070 711
Note: M et -
The amount represents government grants in respect of COVID-19 related 7% & F 5B BACOVID-19/H R & B) (B 5 & 8 BUT
subsidies, which includes subsidies under the Employment Support Scheme s B m i mE ES TR T8 (20224 -
(2022: Distance Business Programme and Catering Business Subsidy Scheme) EEEMAEREREMENE) MBI
under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. B o
FINANCE COSTS 6. B A
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FETT FE T
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEEFBRAX 354 240
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEABENTB I 440 609
794 849
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

Provision for impairment of property, plant and

7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 1. Fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ(&?ﬁ)/iﬁé F
(Loss)/Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging/ MBS AT (E8), %A Ty &k (G
(crediting): AN A TEEBER:

2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Auditor's remuneration % SR B &
— Audit services — B ZR®E 710 750
— Non-audit services — FEZRS 28 38
Cost of inventories recognised as expense EREAIMNIFEMRAR 26,108 31,047
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BELREETE
— Owned assets —BEEE 510 747
— Right-of-use assets —(REEE 9,593 10,430
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEEH 62 63
Lease charges: HEXH:
— Short term leases — R HIEE 208 88
— COVID-19-related rent concessions received — B Uk COVID-19/8 R F &
(Note) EOR (i) (148) —
Provision for impairment of goodwill SRR L] 14,732 —

ME - BERRERERE

equipment — 728
Reversal of provision of impairment of trade and 5 Kk H b fE W SR IA

other receivables and loan receivables, net e E SORE

BB LFEE (345) (410)

Net exchange loss & &G HEFE 562 1519
Gain on termination of lease wIERE R = (774) —
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life ASRENBOHRSER

insurance MAAEERS (65) (66)
Fair value change on contingent consideration ERSARENRAEE

payable b)) — (3,362)
Note: Hat -
The Group has adopted Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent REBDERMNEBM B RELENF6RAESET
Concessions” and Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions A[Covid-19fHA & ER ] KB BV ISR EER
beyond 30 June 2021” and applied the practical expedients introduced by the 1655 M 12 5T A8 [202146 A 30 A 1% ) Covid-1948 B3
amendments to all eligible rent concessions received by the Group. During the HeBER) THAEBEWRNFESERKHA
year ended 31 March 2023, the rent concessions received by the Group are in the CRBERZFEITRSIANERER L -
form of a discount on fixed payments during the period of severe social distancing R E2023F3ANBILFE - A& B KA HE
and travel restriction measures introduced to prevent the spread of COVID-19. & B R A 2 7 A B LECOVID-19 Ak 15 ifn # ) &

184 32 BE B K R EE IR B AE HR R - BLEIE Y 3R
BT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8. EERAHXX(BIEEESM
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) %)

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HKS 000 HK$000
FHET FET
Salaries, bonus and allowances e TEA N ERL 28,076 27,334
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRREFI T & 3R 903 878
28,979 28,212

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future

20234 [ 20224F3F318  AREE T E D
SRR AT R R SR FE AR IR & A &

years. HER o
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIEHEEX
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax — Hong Kong BEFiE —&E
Current year KEE 450 1,551
Under provision in respect of prior years BAFERETR 262 144
72 1,695
Deferred tax IE FE B 18
Current year (Note 25) KFE (W aE25) 50 56
Income tax expense Fr8 i 762 1,751

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit at

MERX B ERAREFENE (BER)

applicable tax rates is as follow: S AR BRI T
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss/(Profit) before income tax MRATEHATER CER) (10,288) 6,981
Tax on (loss)/profit before income tax, calculated BRATE KA (EE), & F
at the rates applicable to profits in the tax B 10 I8 (IR AR B 1 5A
jurisdictions concerned [ 3 AR i A B B R AT
#) (1,641) 1,708
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAEARTRANT B & (516) (73)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A MBEAYOHEEE 2,639 137
Tax effect of two-tiered tax regime T5 75 W ARl B B S 2 & — (165)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERBTEEBEENR G E 18 —
Under provision in respect of prior years BAFERETR 262 144
Income tax expense FrS A 762 1,751
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq)

Notes:

(a) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

(b) British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) income tax

The Company's direct subsidiary was incorporated under the BVI
Business Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is exempted from BVI

income tax.

(c) Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022 is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profits for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of
profits of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above

HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%.

(d) PRC enterprise income tax

No provision for PRC enterprise income tax has been made as the
Company'’s indirect subsidiary established in the PRC did not generate
any estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2023 and

2022.

FEHEX e

(a)

(b)

(c)

HEHBMRES
ARRRBEHEERSARERHEEES
AR SERRERAR - FULER
CHMEEHEMER -

EEBAEWMABRBREH

AR B E M E A F Ty R 1320044 =
BHEBRESHEAREREMAL
HWERCENABEAREESNEN

EBTEH

HE2023F R20226F383NB I FENES
MERBEERFNGTERBEF D
16.5% = &+ 1 AN & B — R M B 2 &R F
BHRMEH T AAEERRRIN - £
BHEMAHT  AEREEE288E T
BRI R A8.25% @ BE2E BB LA
FIFL & B16.5% °

TEIREREHR

AR 2 A o B AR S B R B B R A
RBIE2023F K% 20223 A3 A IEFE I &
ELXEMGHARRVAEHN ML J|ETIR
TECEASHEE -

10. DIVIDENDS i E
Dividend attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid E— A BFEEEN - REASE IR
during the year: RIR% B
2023 2022
20235 20224
HKS 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Final dividend in respect of the previous financial F—EAMBEERARE
year, of HK0.8 cents per ordinary share R B 0.8 (L — 12,672

11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of (loss)/basic earnings per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$11,050,000 (2022:
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$5,230,000)
and on the weighted average number of 1,584,000,000 (2022:
1,584,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 March

2023.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share equals to the basic (loss)/earnings per
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence

during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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3B P& 0 #E F 15 £11,584,000,0004% (2022 4F -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

12. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 12. EEMERATBESHHMAL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS &
(a) Directors’ emoluments (@) EEME
Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing RIRGEM LR A - HERATUEROIE
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance BMNERAB(HEESH=ERD
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about HOIE2HMEENESHE 0T

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Other emoluments

Hitt €&
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme
Fees  allowances contributions Total
RIEA
e HeREW  FEMUEX @t
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
ki3 FET FET FET FET
2023 2023F
Executive directors: UTES:
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington
Z+ 312 211 18 2501
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BELE il 2520 — — 2520
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak rEEEE 1,320 — — 1,320
Mr. Bian Dahai BREEE (i) 174 — — 174
Mr. Bian Hongjiang BRATRAE (i) 107 — — 107

Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTES

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth HBELE 160 — — 160
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BERAE 160 — — 160
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXERRE 160 — — 160
4913 2217 18 1148

2022 2022%
Executive directors: BOES:
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington

e 312 2233 18 2,563
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EERAE (il 2520 — — 2,520
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak hEELE 1320 — — 1320
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Bian Dahai BRERE 120 — 120

Independent non-executive directors; BYEHITES:

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ERESE 160 — — 160
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin LEBERE 160 — — 160
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXERLE 160 — — 160

4,752 2233 18 7,003
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

12. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 12. EEMERATBESHHMAL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS [ A )
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continved) (a) EEM2w)
Notes: bt -
(i) Mr. Tong Tang Joseph was also the chief executive officer. (i) BEEEDABITERER
(ii) Mr. Bian Dahai was redesignated from a non-executive director (ii) 38 K08 %o & 2022910 821H M 3E
to an executive director on 21 October 2022. WTESFTHITRIITES -
(i)~ Mr. Bian Hongjiang was appointed as an executive director on 21 (ii) BT R A R2022F 108 21BEZ
October 2022 and resigned on 20 June 2023. ERMITEEWR202356 7208 B
o
There were no arrangements under which a director of the R B £2023F &20229F3A8318 I F
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the B UEEBEARRAIEENEXRA
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. ERETMIFTHOLEE -
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments b) EEESFHALTHE

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2022: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
aggregate emoluments payable to the remaining two (2022: two)
individuals during the year are as follows:

AEBFANRERFMALTHE
BF=Z2QFE =R &
REXZFHIITRE - BEFR
JEAT 82T M 4 (20226 - A) AT
B @EEmT -

2023 2022

20234 20224

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances e MoER 1,309 1,079
Discretionary bonus B 15 TE 4T 82 104
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAIKTE B 5T &8 g 36 36
1,427 1,219

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

ME N FIATEHE:

2023 2022
2023F 20224

Emolument bands Bl & &
Nil-HK$1,000,000 £ -1,000,0007% 7T 2 2

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any directors or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 B2 FR A & Annual Report %k 2023

H 2=2023F M 2022F3A831H IEFE
AEBTVERATANESRAGR RS
FMA LTINS  EABBRS
MAXRSE SR MAREERFFH
SRIERBEBAEE -



113

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. ¥ BEKRXRE

Furniture
and fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor  Right-of-use
improvements equipment vehicles assets Total
HBERERE
#EUR
HENEEEL BRLERE RE FREEE @t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2021 M2021E4 818
Cost BFN 7,552 3978 549 40,593 52,672
Accumulated depreciation 2iME (7,004) (3,436 (545 26,739) (37,724)
Net book amount REFE 548 542 4 13,854 14,948
Year ended 31 March 2022 EZ2022%38318
tEE
Opening net book amount FHNREEFHE 548 542 4 13,854 14,948
Additions NE 34 365 8 1,457 1,864
Impairment RE — — — (728) (728)
Modification of lease terms EMAEKK — — — 9216 9216
Depreciation e (318) (424) (5) (10,430) (11,177)
Closing net book amount FREEFSE 264 483 7 13,369 14,123
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3A31H
Cost BN 7,586 4,329 557 51,266 63,738
Accumulated depreciation and ZAMERAE
impairment (7,322) (3,846) (550) (37,897) (49,615)
Net book amount REFE 264 483 7 13,369 14123
Year ended 31 March 2023 B Z2023F38318
LEE
Opening net book amount FNEREFE 264 483 1 13,369 14123
Additions "E 352 170 — 9,268 9,790
Depreciation e (212) (295) (3) (9,593) (10,103)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 404 358 4 13,044 13,810
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31A
Cost B 7K 1,938 4,395 557 60,534 73,424
Accumulated depreciation and RHATERRE
impairment (7,534) (4,037) (553) (47,490) (59,614)
Net book amount REFE 404 358 4 13,044 13,810

During the year ended 31 March 2022, in view of the continuous
operating losses made by the furniture sale and consultancy services
operation in the PRC in recent years, the management of the Company
has conducted an impairment assessment. The carrying amount of the
cash generating unit of furniture sale and consultancy services operation
in the PRC was written down to its recoverable amount of nil based
on value in use calculation and an impairment loss of HK$728,000 was
recognised. No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2023.

B E202F3A3NBILFE SR FHE
REAHEREARBEEFERBLEE
B ARRAEBEECTGHME - FEFKE
HERBARBLERSELBEUMNE
HeREOERNTRAEEFEMREST
e Bl & 58 - B R IR(E E518728,0008 T °
B E2023F3ANBIEFE - WERERRE
&8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continves)  13. ¥13% - BER R HEH (2

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, included in the net carrying amount of 20234 K20229F3A31H - ¥ - BE K
property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as follows: REERDFRETREFERAEEEN T :
Carrying amount Depreciation
RESHE e
For the year
As at As at ended
31 March 2023 1 April 2022 31 March 2023
H Z2023F
R2023F3A31H A20225F4818  3A3NHLFE
HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T FET
Buildings BF 13,044 13,342 9,566
Motor vehicles "E — 21 21
Total Fb 13,044 13,369 9,593
Carrying amount Depreciation
Fme® e
For the year
As at As at ended
31 March 2022 1 April 2021 31 March 2022
H E2022%
R20223 318 R2021E4 7311 SAHNBLEFE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FE T
Buildings gF 13,342 13,560 10,164
Motor vehicles B 27 294 266
Total #at 13,369 13,854 10,430

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total additions to right-of-use ~ A E{ = 2023F3A3NHILFE » WE - BMEMKE
assets included in property, plant and equipment amounting to P EIFEFE(LAIE BHEE E N E £ 589,268,000
HK$9,268,000 (2022: HK$1,457,000) which is attributable to buildings. 3% 7T, (20224F : 1,457,0003% 7T °
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REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BEEE
Website
development Money lender
costs Trademarks licence Total
48 Uk BE B B A B HEAER #at
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At1 April 2021 7202154818
Cost BX AR 800 5 — 805
Accumulated amortisation S § (622) 3) — (625)
Net book amount REFE 178 2 — 180
Year ended 31 March 2022 B Z£20223831H
ILEE
Opening net book amount FHEREF5E 178 2 — 180
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wb — KB 2 Al
(Note 33(c)) (Bt &£33(c)) — — 56 56
Amortisation 5 (62) (1) — (63)
Closing net hook amount FRIREFEE 116 1 56 173
At 31 March 2022 720225 3A31H
Cost (DN 800 5 56 861
Accumulated amortisation RErEE (684) (4) — (688)
Net book amount REFE 116 1 56 173
Year ended 31 March 2023 B Z£2023F3831H
LEFE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 116 1 56 173
Amortisation 5 (61) (1) — (62)
Closing net hook amount FERIEMFE 55 — 56 1
At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3A31H
Cost AR 800 5 56 861
Accumulated amortisation BEEE (745) () — (750)
Net book amount iR F R 55 — 56 m
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

15. SUBSIDIARIES 15. (B F]

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 R20234F % 2022F3A31H A = BHE A A
were as follows: FEHT

Country/Place of

incorporation/ Issued and paid- Equity interest held by the
Name of company establishment up caPitaI Company Principal activities

SRRY/HY EEG \
RAER Bx/4% HRRE KARHEHRE TEEH

023 2022

W35 20005

Directly held by the Company

KARNEERE
Tree Investment Group Limited (“Tree Investment’) BV United States dollar 100% 100%  Investment holding
("USD") 1
RBERRES (E 100% 0% REZR

Indirectly held by the Company

FAABERE

Tree Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% 100%  Sale, distribution and rental of furniture and

home accessories, consignment sales,
distribution and licencing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of styling and
consulting services and the operation of a
café

REEBRRA B BT 100% 0w FERXERSHEE HPHREE -

TEHE SELHTRANAE
B REFARBARBUREE
—EmE

Hong Kong Italiving International Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100%  Provision of furniture agency services
("ltaliving’)

EREFERERESERAA R 500,000 7T 100% 0% REREARRSE
(BBEZEXR])

Shanghai ltaliving International Co., Ltd PRC Renminbi — 100%  Sale and distribution of furniture and home
"Shanghai Italiving") (Vote (i) ("RMB") 500,000 accessories, and the provision of styling and
o . B consulting services

LREEXBESRRAH i AR 500,000 — 0% HERDHRARRERSNRREHR
(EEBBXBW ) EQbEEL

Tree (China) Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100%  Investment holding

A (RE)ERAR G 187 100% e REZR

Super Easy Finance Limited Hong Kong HK§10,000 100% 100%  Provision of consumer loan services

HEREEBRAA i 100007 70 100% 0% REHEZETRE

Uijia Holdings [Shenzhen] Co., Ltd (Noe (i) PRC RMB200,000 100% —  Dormant

EXERORINBRAR 472 i) T AR 2000007 100% - TiEY

Notes: B &t -

(i) Shanghai Italiving was incorporated on 11 July 2019 and as at 31 March (i) B E B R2019F7A11H 5 it B
2023, the registered capital of RMB500,000 (2022: RMB500,000) has not 3 MAR2023F3A31H - MAZFARYE
yet been paid. 500,000 (20224 : A R #500,0007T) K &+

&R -
The Company has completed the progress of deregistration on 16 March NN E B R2023F3 A16H 5t Ak BLUH 51 it
2023. The gain on deregistration was considered immaterial. B BUBZMOKEWEAETERKN -

(ii) Qijia Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd was incorporated on 15 December (ii) =R ORI B BR AT R2022612 815

2022, the registered capital of RMB200,000 has not yet been paid. B AL - RS2 A R #200,000 T 89
A ER .
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FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies. The
financial years of the above subsidiaries are coterminous with that
of the Group, except for Italiving and Shanghai Italiving which have
a financial year ending 31 December. The consolidated financial
statements are adjusted for significant transactions or events, including
those between Italiving and Shanghai Italiving and group companies,
between 1 January and 31 March.

15.

L= PNGIRE ),

A EFRERBATAERAT - BEBE
SRR FEEEERNYREER12A
JIEEESRSN - b it BB 2 F A0 B K R R
FEEE M- GAMBRECHEA
THKREMAE - BEIAIEEIA3AE
MESSIHRE A S ENEED
NERITE -

GOODWILL 16. BHE
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: EEMNEEFESMOT
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
At the beginning of year RED
Gross carrying amount FRE&E 23,426 23,426
Accumulated impairment 25HRE — —
23,426 23,426
Net carrying amount at 1 April RARTBH BREF 58 23,426 23,426
Impairment loss BEEE (14,732) —
8,694 23,426
At the end of year RER
Gross carrying amount IRE&E 23,426 23,426
Accumulated impairment RERE (14,732) —
8,694 23,426

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is allocated
to the cash-generating unit of furniture agency services.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined
from value in use calculations based on cash flow projections from
formally approved financial budgets and forecasts covering a five-year
period with an average growth rate of 4.0% (2022: 3.6%). The cash
flows for the subsequent years are extrapolated from the fifth year
using 3% (2022: 3%) growth rate, and discounted using a pre-tax
discount rate of 23.1% (2022: 19.5%).

Due to the decline of the furniture agency services market, the carrying
value of cash-generating unit of furniture agency services has been
reduced to its recoverable amount of HK$8,694,000 as at 31 March
2023, and the related impairment loss of goodwill of HK$14,732,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Any adverse change in the assumptions used in
the calculation of recoverable amount would result in further impairment
losses.

FENEESECHRREBR) DEE
RERERBHORSELEMN -

WEEEEMMAIRE S EEAFE B EER
ErEE TERAEEANIENT KA
BEHMIE SR T8RN ZE A F T8 A
(Y RFREL0% (20224 1 3.6%)) - Hi&
FEMBRESRIREFERFRFEBAI% (2022
F 3 MBEXREE  WEABRATIIE
#&231% (20224F : 19.5%) #T 5 °

HAERERERSE TS TE - R2023F3
AR RERERBHRSEALEME
& 5 = H AT Uy 8] & 288,694,000/ 7T+
FERE =R (E B 18 A14.732,0008 TN &R A
BakEMEEKaRER - GTEATK
5] < %8 AT FB 1B 5% A9 1F () 1 1) & B 1% 28 3
E—PHREEBE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

17. CASH SURRENDER VALUE OF LIFE 17. AERBIWBRANEESEE
INSURANCE
The Group has invested in an insurance policy for Ms. Babington, an AEEDRARABIMTESHEIZEEA
executive director and a key management personnel of the Company. BBabington TR E—H Rk - AEEH A
The Group is the beneficiary of such investment. The carrying amount FZIERENZ A RESEERENRE
represented the cash surrender value of the policy and approximates PR EE ERREARNAALEEMN
its fair value at the end of the reporting date. Details of fair value Heo RABEMFTEFBEEHNM E346 ©
measurement are set out in Note 34.6.
18. INVENTORIES 18. &8
2023 2022
20235 2022%F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET F&r
Finished goods X & 13,347 9,242
Goods in transit T Em 915 1,107
14,262 10,349
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of trade
and other receivables are not materially different from their carrying
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their

inception.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 19. EZREMERZRBEBNERE
RECEIVABLES S
Trade and other receivables B Sk H it FE W FRIE
2023 2022
2023F 20224F
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
k=3 FET FE T
Trade receivables ESERRE
From third parties EWRE=F 29,954 32,845
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEERBEHER (110) (490)
Trade receivables — net B 5 MWk IE R (a) 29,844 32,355
Other receivables H {th fE W FR I8
Deposits, prepayments and other — e B RERHEAmER
receivables KA 5,996 5,937
Interest receivables JE W FI) B 288 —
Prepayment to suppliers TEAT FE EEeE 2,582 2,689
Amount due from a related company FE U — S BE B S m) I IE 31(c) — 18
(b) 8,866 8,644
38,710 40,999
Less: Ve
Non-current portion — Prepayments SEmEE Yy — W HEE
for acquisition of property, plant and 5 N 3% 4 TR R
equipment — (150)
Current portion B & 38,710 40,849

AEEEER R BAREZREMEYRR
EREAROEHHREE
BEREEHNSHEIEEAER -

BERE
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ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN
RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables

Majority of the Group’s sale of furniture and home accessories
to its customers are settled by cash, credit cards, or by other
forms of electronic payments (such as EPS). There was no credit
term granted to the customers and distributors, but the Group
allows credit period of 2 to 7 (2022: 2 to 7) days to the payment
vendors and up to 120 (2022: 120) days to customers of furniture
agency services. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding trade receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Further
details on the Group's credit policy are set out in Note 34.2.

The ageing analysis based on revenue recognition date of the
trade receivables, net of ECL allowance, is as follows:

ESREMEBEWFENEKRE
ES4E )

g 5 &k H it FEWRIE (@)

(a)

ZESEWRE
AEEBRABFIELEHABISREKR
REGLMHEETNUNES EAFR
HEBEFHAFER (WSHE) 5 -
REBYERNEERSHEELEER
B WA TARREHERRERE
RIERBEEF D B1227H (20224 : 2
Z78) k& %1208 (20224 : 1200) &
EEH - AEESRKEBREHEER
BB ZEWRZIE  ABEEE
SREFK BHREHRARRERE
EBTEHKR:T BRAEEEEBR
K — BB AN M §E34.2 ¢

BORKFIE(HREBEEEER
) AR = R BB RER S0
T

2023 2022
2023 20224

HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FET

0-30 days 0-30H 6,698 8,053
31-90 days 31-90H 7,739 6,029
91-180 days 91-180H 15,407 17,577
180-365 days 180-365H — 696
29,844 32,355
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 19.
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade and other receivables (continved)
(a) Trade receivables (Continued)
The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as

ESREMEBEWFENEKRE
ES4E )
ESREMEWRFREE)
(a) BHEWHKEE)
BO RN AN S BEEE

follows: FHNT
2023 2022
20235 20224F
HKS$000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Balance at 1 April RAF1E B & & 490 900
Reversed during the year FAE[D (380) (410)
Balance at 31 March RIA3HE & & 110 490

(b)  Other receivables
Included in the Group's deposits, prepayments and other
receivables as at 31 March 2023 was rental deposits of
HK$3,292,000 (2022: HK$3,308,000), loan advanced to staff of
HK$409,000 (2022: HK$434,000) and prepayments for operating
expenses of HK$2,161,000 (2022: HK$1,960,000).

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, no ECL allowance was

(b) HibEWRE
R2023%3A318 - A B M EE
ENFEREMENRERERS
1% 43,292,000 7T (20224F : 3,308,000
BIT) - BT T IE B B E 5409,000
7 7T (20224F © 434,000 JT) K 48 &
B % 78 1+ 30 782,161,000 7T (2022 4F -
1,960,000 7T ) °

20234 ) 2022 FF3A3A - W EAER

recognised. TEHEEBBEHE -

Loan receivables FE W& =&
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
F T F# T
From third parties EKE=7 10,743 1,050
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEBEEER (35) —
Loan receivables — net JEWEFFEE 10,708 1,050
Less: non-current portion B IEmB D (228) —
Current portion i E &S 10,480 1,050
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 19. ES R HttEWFHEBENEKE

RECEIVABLES (continued) #)
Loan receivables (continved) EBWERGE)
The movement in the ECL allowance of loan receivables is as follows: EREFNEREEBEERZSHNT
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
F#ET FHET
Balance at 1 April RA4ATB K 4 & — —
ECL allowance recognised EHRABHEEEBRHE 35 —
Balance at 31 March RIANB 4 6 35 —
A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the reporting date, based RiREEH  REINHANKREREER
on the maturity date, net of ECL allowance, is as follows: BEENERERIBEROT:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 1 year —F R 10,480 1,050
After 1 year but within 2 years —F% ERFAR 228 —
10,708 1,050
The Group's loan receivables were unsecured, interest bearing from AEEEWERBEEA  RFENEIT%
47% to 48% (2022: 48%) per annum and denominated in HK$. Further Z48% (20224 - 48%) 5T B R A B TTATE ©
details on the Group's credit policy are set out in Note 34.2. AEBEEERRNE - TFBHNMMZT
342 -
20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2. RITEHEES
Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit RITEHRERERBRITFRNERZZH
rates. FIEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2. ESZREMESRE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
Notes HK$000 HK$000
b & FET FET
Trade payables EZENRE
To third parties JENE=R (a) 11,796 7714
Other payables H B3 KB
Accrued charges and other payables FEET B & H fh FE {4 5K 18 (b) 6,752 5018
Amounts due to related parties JE A< BA B U5 3R 1B 31(c)) — 101
Consideration payable JERRE c) 4,304 10,304
11,056 15,423
22,852 23,137

All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the
Group's trade and other payables as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were
considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

(a) Trade payables
There was no credit period granted by the suppliers of the Group.
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

FERBHARE RAILAEENESR
H A JE f~F 30 18 7220234 K 20224F3 A 318 BY
RABEBWREARAREBENSEILUE -

(a)

B ENRIE
AR B ¢ R
BHREMHEERERE BN RER

follows: ST
2023 2022

2023 % 20224F

HKS$'000 HK$ 000

FAET FET

0-30 days 0-30H 4,161 5,922
31-90 days 31-90H 5,330 1,616
Over 90 days 90H M £ 2,305 176
11,796 7,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continueq) 21 EFREMENRE D

(b) Accrued charges and other payables (b)
Included in the Group's accrued charges and other payables as at
31 March 2023 was other payables of HK$2,287,000 (2022: nil)
and salaries payables of HK$1,245,000 (2022: HK$1,802,000).

(c) Consideration payable (c)
As at 31 March 2022, the amount represents the redesignation of
contingent consideration payable as consideration payable (Note
32) based on the audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31
December 2021. Consideration payable remained unpaid as at 31
March 2023 and 2022 was included in other payables.

FEtE AR H At B 5B
R2023F3A31H - AEEREFTER
Ko EAth P& < RRIB B 1S H A FE S 5RIE
2,287,000 7T (20224F =) K & A5 #r
1,245,000 7T (20224F : 1,802,00078
TT) °

EARE

M202263A31H - ZeBWIEENEE
tHRE E2021F12A3NB EFERK
EREEBRENIAREBETIEE
BREMSNREC 32 - ERHRER
2023F N 2022F3 B3NN AL - I
EEFAE M ERFUEA o

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHNEE
2023 2022
20235 20224F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contract liabilities arising from advance payments T8 W & P 3 H & 4 0 & 49
from customers BE 5813 8,086
Contract liabilities arising from gift vouchers sold =& H 1B K f& B 9 18 5 & 4
but not yet redeemed MeEHasE 104 125
5917 8,211
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from the advance AEBMNAENBEZERGRFEMNE
payments made by customers while the underlying products or services i A6 B8 2 o 2k AR 7% 8 R 1R it o 7202343
are yet to be provided. The decrease of contract liabilities as at 31 ANAMEHEBERY  TZRBRERER
March 2023 is mainly due to the decrease in advance payments from HERLSEPEMTRD -
customers as a result of less sales made during the year.
Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year amounted to F ¥ K E 2 A #8,211,00078 7T (202246 :
HK$8,211,000 (2022: HK$12,138,000) have been recognised as revenue 12,138,000 70) )& M B E D R ELE 20235
during the year ended 31 March 2023. SASNHEFERR AW -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITEE
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, all of the Group’s bank borrowings are 720234 X 20223 83180 - AEE FrA R
unsecured, contain a repayable on demand clause and are shown under TEEHAREER BERERKEED
current liabilities. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group's bank B WRRBEAE FHIR - R2023F &
borrowings, based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 20229 3A31H - ERER B HETE S
agreements, were repayable as follows: BB ANEBEMERTEEEN T
fE 82
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Within one year —F A 6,464 6,493
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are considered to be a BRTEENEESEERAAALEED
reasonable approximation of their fair values. BENE -
LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HESE

The analysis of the remaining contractual maturities of the Group's lease

AEEREEER TRV HBM DL

liabilities is as follows:

T

2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F&r
Total minimum lease payments: EBEMKERE:
— Due within one year B —F K5 E 8,502 9,137
— Due in the second to fifth years REFEERAFIEH 4,741 5,804
13,249 14,941
Future finance charges on lease liabilities HEBBEMNRRTBEI D (370) (496)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEWRE 12,879 14,445
Present value of minimum lease payments: HEHEHENKHIEE:
— Due within one year B —F AR 8,195 8,905
— Due in the second to fifth years RE-_FE2FRFHH 4,684 5,540
12,879 14,445
Less: Portion due within one year included under BWomBBEBETR—FA
current liabilities | HB & (8,195) (8,905)
Portion due after one year included under ERBEEBE TR —FEID
non-current liabilities By #E 4,684 5,540
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (continved)
As at 31 March 2023, lease liabilities amounting to HK$12,879,000
(2022: HK$14,445,000) are effectively secured by the related underlying
assets as the rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor
in the event of default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash outflows for the
leases are HK$10,560,000 (2022: HK$10,730,000).

Details of the lease activities
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group has entered into leases for
warehouse, office and shop premises and motor vehicles as follows:

Financial statements
items of right-of-use

24,

HEAE#

7202343 318 » $£12,879,0005% 7T (20224F
144450008 L) M EBEM S * AR WA
S@EEREN IEEEENENERE
HAEA WER EEBEEEERE -

REZ208F3A3BLEFEE - HERS
i %8 A £ A10,560,00058 T (20224 -
10,730,0007% 7T) °

HETHHE
R20234F N20224F3831H © AN &£ B % 2
B -WAE - EEERARETZUATEE:

Range of remaining

Types of right-of-use assets assets included in Number of leases lease term Particulars
EREEEFRRH
EREEESR BHBRKRER HEHE HTHBEE FE
Warehouse, office and shop ~ Property, plant and equipment ~ 7(2022: 7) 1t02years ¢ Not contain any renewal and termination
premises (2022: 1 to 3 years) options
RE -BRERESR WE BERZE 7(2002F:7)  1E21F o THEAMERRKILESE
(2022 1E3F)

e Some of the contracts contain additional
variable lease payments depends on the
gross receipts during the contract period

o FRENBEENTEHENT
SERTEOARNMBRATE

Motor vehicles Property, plant and equipment ~ 3(2022: 3) 0.25t0 1 year e Allof the contracts contain an option to
(2022: 1t0 2 years) purchase the motor vehicles at the end of
the lease term
B ¥ BRERRE 3 (20229 :3)  026EIF o 2HENSERNBEATHEBEEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in the deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

25. i iEF 18
MAERE  BEHBEEENESHNT -

HK$ 000
FET
At 1 April 2021 #2021 4818 522
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) NI R (M 779) (56)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 202243 A31H0 K 20224 4 A18 466
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) 8 = B R (MY 779) (50)
At 31 March 2023 72023538318 416
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting FA KER—MBEERARLSHRE
of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year is as BELEMEEEMABENEZHNOT
follows:
Deferred tax assets EEMREEE
Accelerated
accounting
depreciation Provision Total
mERETITE BE #at
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FETT FAETT F&r
At 1 April 2021 #2021 4 18 401 148 549
Recognised in profit or loss 3 (68) (65)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 722022463 A318 &
404 80 484
Recognised in profit or loss 4 (63) (59)
At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3831H 408 17 425
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHBEEE
Accelerated tax
amortisation
in 2 B 0E 8N
HK$ 000
F#E T
At 1 April 2021 20214818 (27)
Recognised in profit or loss RE=ER 9
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 F20224E3 B318 2022454 A1H (18)
Recognised in profit or loss RIEZER 9
At 31 March 2023 R2023F 34318 (9)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. BRA
Number of shares HKS 000
R4 &8 FET
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April  R20214 418 - 20224E3 318 -
2022 and 31 March 2023 20224 B1H K& 20233 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid ERTIHE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April  R20214 418 - 20224638318 -
2022 and 31 March 2023 202244 818 % 202343 A31 A 1,584,000,000 15,840
27. RESERVES 2]. ##E
(a) Share premium (a) BEE
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share BERSESAFE  ARAIHR
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment R ERITAESRIARERR
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that KRS - MERERER 2 IKIK
immediately following the date on which the distribution or BEER  ARFBEBHEINBEE
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its BREREERLIEBER -
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
(b) Capital reserve () EXRfGHE
Capital reserve arises from capital contribution by a shareholder BRRBEREART] —EBRELE -

of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of shareholders dated on 5 January
2018, a share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity").

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of share capital in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date on
which dealings in the Company's shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the “General Scheme Limit").

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date
of approval of the limit.

28.

URODABERNBERS

RiE A B A2018F1 A5H MR R & HOR &
EOARRRM-EBRESE BN
Hi 7% B20185F1 A5 H A& 51104 ([§8 IR #8 &t
gl

BREFISEEARENAER2HEE
BREBRE (FRRFHYAEEFELEM
MBSO - R HEARERE R
BREREBYRSIBAKERAKET
FARBRAEAEARENERNELR (&R
EBRDAEEBEMNADNER -

RREBREFIRAEERRANE
MEMBREFECREMAFTITEDN
2 BB 1 AR T BB A M JE 1T i i AT 3T Y
EmBRNBE  TEBBTKESHETRA
#930% ©

AREBRESE R AEBE (TR EMmE
R EETRON 2 BERE G M
AR EREERES S RANEEEMN
oo B AR R BT B AR R E R BB IR )
BATEMABITHRGOEE X TEHE
BRARRBRDERAEBIIFAREEE
HE# 1T A #910% (B1158,400,0000% i% (5)
((—RErBIRED -

BRIEEARQNRIRER & - BTRIERIRER
BT 8 I AR £ [ fa) E 4t B AR 4 51 3115
FTELOAMNEHEREETEMIETH
BHBs  THEEANRIEREZREE
TR A #910% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

28.

year ended 31 March 2023 & £ 20234 3A318 IEF &

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each eligible participant who accepts the offer
for the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of issued share capital for
the time being. Where any further grant of options under the Share
Option Scheme to a grantee would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted
to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of share capital in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by shareholders
in general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be at the discretion
of the directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of
the Company’s shares on the offer date; (b) the average closing price of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheets for trade in one or more board lots of the Company's shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

No option was granted under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 and during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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mHEA(RMZERARBEALT 8
HBBA)ERERRE -

ERBERENRBBESREENITRE -
HEABERATEEFNESE @R
BEHOBRH BXAEAREXRMLEE—F
FNEERBEEEMHNARRB RO AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  29. &2 R KB B ARk R &

COMPANY

2023 2022
2023 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FAET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—HENBRRMNIEE 20,249 20,249
Intangible assets mEAE — 7
20,249 20,256
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments AR 228 210
Amount due from a related company JE W — &1 B B 2 &) 3R — 18
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U HY B A B R IE 8,486 7,964
8,714 8,192
Current liabilities rEBaE
Other payables H M FE T 5RI8 33717 859
Net current assets REBEEFE 5,337 7,333
Net assets FEE 25,586 27,589
EQUITY =
Share capital & A 15,840 15,840
Reserves (Note) (BT a2) 9,746 11,749
Total equity R 25,586 27,589

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June

2023.

R2023F6H20B EE S E R EETE -

Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
== ®hEE
Director Director
EE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued) .
Note: W&t
The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: ARRKEEESHOT:
Share Accumulated
premium* losses Total
B s Er Rt EE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F&T FHET
At 1 April 2021 202144818 51,813 (33,555) 18,258
Profit and total comprehensive income — 4F A i A1) K2 E fth 2 T 42 25 42 58
for the year — 6,163 6,163
Dividend paid BRI A — (12,672) (12,672)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 7202293 A31H K% 20229F4 818 51,813 (40,064) 11,749
Loss and total comprehensive expense & NG 1B & H b 2 M L 42758
for the year — (2,003) (2,003)
At 31 March 2023 742023638310 51,813 (42,067) 9,746
* Share premium represents (i) the excess of the proceeds from issuance * & 10 7% (8 45 () N A 71 B A7 IR 19 B9 P 15 3%
of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of share issuance HBLEE@DENI S (NBREGK ETH
expenses; and (i) the difference between the carrying value of Tree ) R(VBEFEWE B AR ARN
Limited acquired in prior years over the nominal value of the share capital EEHEBRLARAMEARBMEITHR
of the Company issued in exchange thereof. AEEMNZERE -
30. COMMITMENTS 30. &iE
(a) Lease commitments (a) FHEHIE
As lessee ERAEA
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the lease commitments for R2023F KX 2022F3A318 - A E
short-term leases are as follows: HEERENAT:
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 53 —

29. ARTMHMBEMRR T2

Details of these lease are set out in Note 24.

As lessor

ZEMRE

ERHBA

VR BEN T2 -

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases

20234 K 20223 A31H - REE IR
BT SL T E Y EWE K

in respect of properties as follows:

RREHEHSBBEOT:

2023 2022

2023 20224

HKS$'000 HK$ 000

FET F&r

Within one year —FR 432 —

The Group leases its property under operating lease
arrangements which run for an initial period of 2 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

31.

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

30. AiE @)

(b) Capital commitments (b) EBEAREIE
2023 2022
2023 20224F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Contracted but not provided for: DET 4B R
— Property, plant and equipment — ¥ BELE — 150

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these

N BEAEXRS
BEEGRAMERREMBDHAFEEHR

consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material 5/ ERZ O - Ak B LR B ETT
transactions with related parties: HNEBRRZS :
(a) Name and relationship with related parties (@) BEEHAINZBRER
During the vyear, the related parties that had transactions with RAFE EAEBEETRHHE
the Group were as follows: BT

Name of related parties

Relationship with the Group

BB 5 BB HEAEENER

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph A director of the Company

EEEE RRBES

Mr. Han Yi Director of a subsidiary of the Group

EE T4 REE-—FNBARMNES

AE Majoris Business Development Company Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company
AACEERERAF RARNAEERBDAEES

AE Majoris CPA Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company
AE Majoris CPA Limited RARNTEZRBEEEES

Rothley Investment Limited (“Rothley”)
Rothley Investment Limited ([Rothley])

Controlled by Ms. Babington, a director of the Company
527K B & % Babington 22 3% #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) N BEAEXRZ®)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEBEBINRS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial BRAGEVBERERAEMIE D FIHE
statements, during the year, the transactions with related parties BN FRARAEEBHB/EFEAR
of the Group carried in the ordinary course of business were as SEBB A ETHNISNT
follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
AE Majoris Business Investor and public
Development Company relationship service
Limited fee* — 200
RBACEERBRAGHEERAHKBR
iz % &>
AE Majoris CPA Limited Accounting service fee* 216 428

AE Majoris CPA Limited RSB

* These related party transactions constitute connected * ZE RN 5 R 5K GEM AR A
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in E_TEMATHOBAER D AR
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. BRERS -

(c) Amounts due from/(to) related parties (c) FEW ~(FER)BEE S FRE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET

Other receivable H fth fE Wy : 18

Rothley Rothley — 18

Other payables Hh S RIE

Mr. Han Yi HEEAE — (51)

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EELE — (50)

Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, interest- FEUL, (FEA) BAESE 7 B A IR

free and repayable on demand. REREREREER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) N BEBRAIAXRZ®
(c) Amounts due from/(to) related parties (c) FEW (FER)BEE S FE
(Continued) (%)
The maximum outstanding of amounts due from related parties FARKER T RENRSREES
during the year is as follows: SR
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Rothley Rothley 18 18
(d) Key management personnel remuneration d FEEBAEHMH
Key management of the Group are members of the board of AEENTEEEERESSRS
directors and senior management. Key management personnel REBENKE - TEEEABEFH
remuneration includes the following expenses: BREATSERMS:
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and allowances & KOFR 1,312 7,185
Discretionary bonus ) 15 7E 4T — 190
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3= 1K 1@ F| 51 &I £ 7% 30 36
7,402 741
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

On 14 December 2018, Tree Investment, a subsidiary of the Group,
Perfect Bright Management Company Limited, an independent third
party, and Mr. Han Yi, entered into a sales and purchase agreement
(the “Sales and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Group agreed to acquire the entire share capital of Italiving (the
“Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 31 December 2018
(the “Completion Date”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Sales and Purchase Agreement, the total
consideration for the Acquisition (the “Purchase Consideration”)
comprised:

(a) Cash consideration
(i) upon completion, a sum of HK$3,000,000; and

(ii) within three months from the Completion Date, a sum of
HK$3,500,000;

(b) Contingent consideration

(i) within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2019, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ended 31 December 2019 is not less than HK$5,200,000,
a sum equals two times of the net profit before tax of
[taliving minus HK$6,500,000 paid under (a)(i) and (a)(ii)
above;

(ii) within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2020, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ended 31 December 2020 is not less than HK$6,200,000,
a sum equals 1.8 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving; and

(iii)  within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2021, provided
that the net profit before tax of ltaliving for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is not less than HK$9,300,000,
a sum equals 1.4 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving.
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32.

BAHARARKE

FR20185F12 3148 - R & B I B 2 7 Tree
Investment ~ ¥ 3 % = J3 Perfect Bright
Management Company Limited £2 §% 2 4t A 5737
EEpz((EEHE] Bt AEEHRA
BEWEEEEREZERN 2 HRA(TRES
H]) - WHEEBEE R20185F128318 ([ K
BEI])STR ©

RIEFEHROGR  WBFHENEKE
(BEREDBE:

@ ReRE
() PATEAEF - 143,000,000 7T
)53

(i) BTKBHLF=EAN X
1<+3,500,00038 7T :

(b) TAKE

(i) BEABEZHRE E2019F12
ANALEFEMLEZEER
HiEsr—EAR  MEBEE
HREE2019F12ANBIEFE
/9 B B AT 4% ) 1 2> 525,200,000
B AIXNHEEREBREE
R BR A AT AR A A9265 R £ X
(a)(i) % (a)(ii) 38 T~ 3% 1< #96,500,000
Vol ook

(i) BBEBEZHREZ2020F12
ANALFEMLEZEKEER
HiEsr—EAR  MEBEE
HREE2020F12 A3 IEFE
/9 B B AT 43 F T 2> 526,200,000
BT AIXNHEEREEE=E
K BRBLAT AL Al e sfE e &
NS

il BEBEZMHREZ=2021F12
ANALFEMEEZEKEER
HiEsr—EAR  MEBEE
HREZ2001FN2ANBILEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

(Continued)

(b)

Contingent consideration (Continued)

Notwithstanding the aforementioned payment schedule,
Tree Investment shall not be under any obligation to pay a
sum exceeding HK$40,000,000 in aggregate as the Purchase
Consideration or when the above obligation has been discharged.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable represents
the present values of the Group's probability-weighted estimates
of the cash outflows. It reflects management’s estimates of the
probabilities that the net profit before income tax of Italiving for
the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 would be
achieved and the discount rates.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of contingent consideration
payable based on the audited results of Italiving for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was nil and the fair value change of
HK$3,362,000 was recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

32. ERSIARE®

(b)

HARARKE 2

Nem L R R - ERBER
BN E (TR © Tree Investmenti
# (T (7] & 1 2 1 3B & 2£40,000,000
VBT o

ENHARBAAEBEREAEER
ERENBEMEGHENRE
RREEEHEESZHERENE
Z2019%F ~ 2020%F f2 2021512 H318 1k
FREEROPTE B AR BB R
AR 3 B R ey fh 5t e

R20202E3A3H ERNEFEEZH
REZE201F12ANB L FEHEE
REBNENSIARBANEES
T MEE202F3A3BIEFEMHIE
HAECERAAEBEE
3,362,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. MEBEHRERMKE
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METBHFELEBNYHE
financing activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AEENRETHEENEES
activities can be classified as follows: BoEmT:
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEAE RITEE et
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET F&ET F&r
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 818 13,805 8,757 22,562
Cash-flows: ReERE:
Proceeds PR 1§ 3R — 21,369 21,369
Repayments B — (23,633) (23,633)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEBBENERI S (10,033) — (10,033)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENFN BN (609) — (609)
Interests paid B F B — (240) (240)
Non-cash: RS
Entering into new leases RN FEE 1,457 — 1,457
Modification of lease terms & & &% 9216 — 9216
Interests expenses B X 609 240 849
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022F3R831A K
20224818 14,445 6,493 20,938
Cash-flows: BERE
Proceeds FT 15 3018 — 31,323 31,323
Repayments B — (31,352) (31,352)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEBBENEARLY (9,912) — (9,912)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBRENNEHS (440) — (440)
Interests paid 2 F & — (354) (354)
Non-cash: FkRE:
Entering into new leases RN EHTEE 9,268 — 9,268
Interests expenses MERAX 440 354 794
COVID-19-related rent concessions B2 U COVID-19/EEE & &
received W (148) = (148)
Termination of lease mIEEE (774) — (774)
At 31 March 2023 A2023E3831H 12,879 6,464 19,343
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

. REBRERERK T )

OF CASH FLOWS

(b) Non-cash transactions (b) kBRERXB
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered RENE2023F3ANALEFE - A&E
into certain lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use AIVATHESY Bt RHEEH
assets and lease liabilities amounting to HK$10,418,000 (2022: MO ERNEFERAEEERTEE
HK$1,457,000) was recognised at the lease commencement date. B {&10,418,0007% 7T (20224 : 1,457,000

B 7'E)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group renewed REE2002F383BIEFE - A%
certain lease contracts which increased right-of-use assets BEEEATHEALN RHEEE
and lease liabilities amounting to HK$9,268,000 at the lease WHEEMFEREEERTHESE
modification date. There is no lease modification during the year 9,268,000/%8 7T ° P B £2023F3A31H
ended 31 March 2023. IEEE TEESBH -

(c) Acquisition of assets through acquisition of a (c) EBWE—REHEQTWE
subsidiary EE
In January 2022, the Group acquired 100% equity interest 202261 7 - A& [H BA 48 X {550,000
in Super Easy Finance Limited from Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, a BLRAARAREFTEELENES
director of the Company, at a total consideration of HK$50,000. ELEERRRIF00%RER
Super Easy Finance Limited held a money lender licence and its PEREEBRAFTFBEMEA Hﬁ'o'?
principal activity is the provision of consumer loan services. The B TEZIFHREHRBEEEEN
acquisition was recognised as an acquisition of assets, rather e mBERBIERAEER /\%
than a business combination, given that substantially all of the MEEHEH RRBBEEENES
fair value of the gross assets is concentrated in a group of similar REBAPAABESHR —HEUN
identifiable assets (i.e. the money lender licence). Al BB E (B EARBRR) -
The identifiable of assets and liabilities acquired at the date of RWEANFMKERH#NEE R A
acquisition comprise the following: EEE NI &IE:

HK$'000
FET

Intangible assets (Note 14) wmEEE K E14) 56
Other payables H b fE T 5R1E (6)
Total consideration paid in cash NIRE X HHBRE 50
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

34.

year ended 31 March 2023 & £ 20234 3A318 IEF &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). The Group's
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the
board of directors. There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

34.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position relate to the following categories of financial
assets and financial liabilities:

4. BIBEBEERAAEBENE

AEEREARXBBREMRE ST E
AEmMTAMAEMBRR - LFHHR
REHEERR RBETRBEMSE
B (BREMEERIINERR)  NEED
BERAREEXBSLKESREHLE
BOMBERAEXNEBENNEE - &
BEBRASENSREEBETLLE
EZEHE - ARERERM T AAENAR
BRAFHEERRAERRN T ALES
£ -

N TMEER ABEHNER
EGAMBRARTRIINERS
BEUTEANSREERSRE
B -

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRETEAAEBEIERN
— Cash surrender value of life insurance  — AZREBMNBOREEE 1,978 1,913
Financial assets at amortised cost REEKRANENSREE
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 K& HhfE WK IE 34,004 36,316
— Loan receivables —ERER 10,708 1,050
— Bank balances and cash —RTTEHRERS 9,479 22,185
56,169 61,464
Financial liabilities EA R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAAIENEREE
— Trade and other payables — B R EMERMKIEA 21,423 22,224
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 6,464 6,493
— Lease liabilities —HESE 12,879 14,445
40,766 43,162
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

34.2 Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank

deposits, trade and other receivables and loan receivables. The

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets is limited to the carrying amount at the reporting dates as

summarised below:

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE
(%)

342 EERK

FEERERENRTER -EH
Ko Ho A 8 W R 0B K W B SRR R R
ERkR - AEE SR EEAERN
RAEERRNEET XA R
BERNBRESE:

General approach

Simplified —RE

approach Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
B AR B 81 B B2 B £23 @t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FET FET FAET FET FET

At 31 March 2023 2023 3A31H
Trade receivables BRI 29,344 = — = 29,844
Loan receivables JE W & * — 10,708 - - 10,708
Other receivables H i e 30E — 4,160 - - 4,160
Bank balances and cash BUEBRRAS — 9,479 — — 9,479
29,844 24,347 — — 54,191

At 31 March 2022 #2022 3A31R
Trade receivables BoEWHIE 32,355 — — — 32,355
Loan receivables BRER — 1,050 — — 1,050
Other receivables Hih Y508 — 3,961 — — 3,961
Bank balances and cash BIEBRAE — 22,185 — — 22,185
32,355 27,196 — — 59,551

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group's policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a credit worthiness assessment made.
Payment record of customers is closely monitored. It
is not the Group's policy to request collateral from its

customers.

i) EZEWKA
AEENBEEZERGEERLT
MXZEFETRS - HEP
ABBERERFNGER A
EREEGRR AKREZYE
REFHNRRLE - AEEH
BRI EEREFIRMEA

jmu]
aA °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, as set out in Note 2.10, the Group assesses
ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables under simplified
approach based on provision matrix, the expected loss
rates are based on the payment profile as well as the
corresponding historical credit losses during that period.
The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the
customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding.
At each reporting date, the historical default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed. However, given the short period exposed
to credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors
has not been considered significant within the reporting
period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to
make payments within 365 days from the invoice date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

As at 31 March 2023, ECL allowance of HK$110,000
(2022: HK$490,000) was recognised for trade receivables
from the furniture agency services segment at ECL rate
of 0.3% (2022: 0.2%) for trade receivables that are not
yet past due, 0.4% (2022: 0.2%) for trade receivables that
are past due within 90 days, 0.6% (2022: 0.3%) for trade
receivables that are past due within 91 to 180 days, 0.4%
(2022: 0.4%) for trade receivables that are past due within
181 to 365 days and 100.0% (2022: 100.0%) for trade
receivables that are past due over 365 days.
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HIQHAME 5 E WK E) -
0.6% (20224F : 0.3%) (3@ HiNz
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, no ECL allowance was
recognised for trade receivables from the furniture sale
and consultancy services segment.

As at 31 March 2023, 95.4% (2022: 91.1%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from a customer arisen
from the furniture agency services segment.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loan
receivables, other receivables and bank balances
and cash. In order to minimise the credit risk of loan
receivables and other receivables, the management would
make periodic collective and individual assessment of the
recoverability of loan receivables and other receivables
based on historical settlement records and past
experience as well as current external information and
adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking
information, including the default rate where the relevant
debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

In addition, for loan receivables, all loans are subject to
credit assessment including obtaining the credit reports
of the borrowers and the guarantors, and have to be
approved by the management. The management reviews
regularly the recoverable amount of loan receivables by
taking into account of the market conditions, customers’
profiles including any significant changes in the payment
status of the borrowers and quality of third-party
guarantees to ensure that adequate impairment is made
for the irrecoverable amounts.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure the expected credit losses for other financial
assets at amortised cost.

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

(%)

M2 EERKM 2

(i)

(ii)

EEEWREE)
20234 12202243 8318 » AR
B ERREEERBARE

DEME SRR BEERTEH
FEBEBIE -
R2023F3A31H - & B E W

FRIA B EE S - 954% (20224 :
91.1%) & E BUR EBER B R 2
B—EZEFPHRIE -

BRBERAYENEMEES R
EE
REEK AT ENEMERE
ESREERER - HMEWR
HUARRITHEBERE - AR
=R IE B U B R R B R R
BEHNEERR  BEEHSER
BEEFECEDATERIUAR
ERIINEER - EHEHERE
R N2 E At JE s R 1B Y AT 4k Bl
EATHF R AE RIS - W
B R BRBE R DR R 1B R
(BIERBEBSALEMERN
BHE)  REETDEfEEM
B AR BREUER AT
U [El @ HAE 15 o

AN R ERE A RETE
i BREBUSERARE
RAMEERSE - WAKLERE
BH A - BEEEHEHEK
EXWA B EEE EPiR
mi - BEHR  BEERA
NHRARNEREHRE=T
BEROEER  BERRTSATKRE
LRETIRRAME -

ANEE e R E B M5 3 E %R
ERE — RN UFFER
BEAATIRNEMEREE
MEREEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(ii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, ECL allowance of HK$35,000

was recognised for loan receivables (2022: nil) and

ECL allowance for other receivables was considered
immaterial.

The credit risks on bank balances are considered to be
insignificant because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

34.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade
payables and its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to
ensure that the Group maintain sufficient reserves of cash and
cash equivalents and committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. When
the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the
liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I FE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
34.3 Liquidity risk (continved) UITBESAMRE
Total
Within 1year Over 1year but undiscounted Carrying
orondemand within5years  Over5years amount amount
MERZ ko) a3 AR

REX BRER BBsE BeE RESE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2023 R2023%£3A431A

Trade and other payables EoRAMERTE 70423 — — 148 7423

Bank borrowings RITEE 6,464 - — 6,464 6,464

Lease liabilities HERE 8,502 4,141 — 13,249 12,879
36,389 4,741 = 41,136 40,766

At 31 March 2022 R2022F3A31R

Trade and other payables BoRAMERRE 22,004 — — 22,224 22,224

Bank borrowings BITEE 6,493 — — 6,493 6,493

Lease liabilities HEAE 9,137 5,804 — 14,941 14,445
37,854 5,804 — 43658 43,162
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BKEREERAABETE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)

34.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) VI RBESRR )
The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank TERBERTERMEANZ TN
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed SERRRARMAHBEREREER
scheduled repayments set out in the bank loan agreements. The BHRHETEENI RN - %F
amounts include interest payment computed using contractual CHEEUNEHNFEFTENF B
rates. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the loan R AEETHERHEBETERH
covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of the BB TEHRFBER IR
loans and does not consider it is probable that the bank will BREASEBEBETZSERAT
exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the Group AT A RATEITHE AR BEEEZ R
continues to meet these requirements. The directors believe that BR-EEZMAE ZERTEEH
these bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the BERETERBHEAASF AT EE
scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank loan agreements. SBHEE -

Over 1 year Total
Within 1year  but within5 undiscounted Carrying
or on demand years amount amount
MER BiB1EF RIT R
HRER ERSFR we IRES
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3H31H
Bank borrowings RITEE 6,567 — 6,567 6,464
At 31 March 2022 720224 3A31H
Bank borrowings RITIEE 6,649 — 6,649 6,493

34.4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in the market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank borrowings, loan receivables and lease
liabilities. The Group's loan receivables bearing fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk while the Group's
borrowings bearing variable rates and fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
risk respectively. The exposure to interest rates for the Group's
short term bank deposits is considered immaterial.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
34.4 Interest rate risk (Continved) 344 FIEE M2
The effective interest rates of the Group’s loan receivables and AEENEERRESBNERRE
borrowings at the reporting date were as follows: m
2023 2022
20235 20224F
Effective Effective
Interest rate HKS$ 000 Interest rate HK$ 000
BEBRRx FET BRI %= FET
Fixed rate TE Al &
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 3.5-4.0% 402 4.0% 1,125
— Lease liabilities —HEBsRE 3.2-4.7% 12,879 3.2-47% 14,445
— Loan receivables — BB ER 47%-48% (10,708) 48% (1,050
2,573 14,520
Variable rate AR S
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 6.9% 6,062 4.3% 5,368
8,635 19,888
As at 31 March 2023, if interest rate for variable rate borrowings M2023F3A318 - WFBFIEEER
had increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other FEEFTE0EES - BFTEH
variables held constant, the loss after income tax would have fhEERFTE  BIRATENRES
been HK$25,000 lower/higher (2022: profit after income tax 8% % L # 125,000 T (20224 ¢
would have been HK$22,000 lower/higher) and retained profits B BT 15 B 1% 5 7 #8038 5122,000
would have been HK$25,000 (2022: HK$22,000) higher/lower. PET0) 0 RE R FIAEE hn, IR 425,000
78 70 (20224F = 22,0007 7T) °
The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be ERBRTTANEER  MEREBR
reasonably possible based on observation of current market PR RAEEAEEE  WRK
conditions and represents management's assessment of a 55 fi HARTZEAHENES
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next twelve- AlRE F B A AT o

month period.

The calculations are based on a change in average market BBRAEDREBESHBETFEMEF
interest rates for each period, and the financial instruments held EEHURREREDMFE X
at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest oy EfJ RN T mﬂl,ﬁ\?ﬁﬁ o FTE X
rates. All other variables are held constant. The sensitivity ~— fth % FHEREFETE - B Z=20229F3A31
analysis included in the consolidated financial statements for the AIEFE MR & B 75 W2 P 8 U
year ended 31 March 2022 has been prepared on the same basis. EomIBEEREERE -
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31H I F[E

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34.

34.5 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposures to
currency risk arise from its overseas sales and purchases, which
are primarily denominated in Euro (“EUR") and USD. These
are not the functional currencies of the group entities to which
these transactions relate. The Group has bank balances and
cash, bank borrowings and cash surrender value of life insurance
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in EUR and USD.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities,
translated into HK$ at the closing rates, are as follows:

BERREERAALEBE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
34.5 Hh & b

EI‘I_'
fin

SRR RS TAN R AEE
EARRRERERAINEEZEFHM
KBNERER AKENEER
RAEREESIEERRE =
2T R ETTAE - RTRET
VIIRERDM P EEEENIEE
B AEBEBEERIE (2R
TERET)FHEMRTESRERS -
RITEERASRBOBHREE
(I=RC

MNESHENEREERABRE
BEREXHKE[ETWT:

usD EUR
ESH & T
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
As at 31 March 2023 742023538318
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBORSEER 1,978 —
Trade and other receivables 2 5 I B A fE YL FR IR — 28,862
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRES 67 3178
Trade and other payables B R EMERMKIEA (1) (11,537)
Bank borrowings RITEE — (6,062)
Overall net exposure R R e R R F 2,044 14,41
As at 31 March 2022 202293 A31H
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBORSEE 1,913 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H M ERRIE 78 30,889
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRES 486 2,915
Trade and other payables BS & HEMERMFIEA (10) (7,338)
Bank borrowings RITEE — (5,368)
Overall net exposure ERERBAIEFE 2,467 21,098
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group's exposure to foreign
currency risk is considered as minimal. The Group is mainly
exposed to the effects of fluctuation in EUR.

As at 31 March 2023, if EUR had strengthened/weakened
by 5% (2022: 10%) against HK$ with all other variables held
constant, the loss after income tax would have been HK$603,000
lower/higher (2022: profit after income tax would have been
HK$1,762,000 higher/lower) and retained profits would have
been HK$603,000 (2022: HK$1,762,000) higher/lower.

34.6 Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined
based on the observability and significance of inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly and not using
significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

BBEREERAAEETE

34.5 S B (&)

ERETEITHS  AKEEY
BSNER R R RN RE - AR
EXrEmEBTRBTENRR

2023438318 © M BT 58 T
Tt/ T B5% (20224 1 10%) - B FFA
HMEHRFITE  ABRAEHE
185 18 #5741 H1603,0005% 7T (2022
F BB HERFBEM D
1,762,000 Jr) - 1R B % F &g m
R 2603,0007% 7T (20224F - 1,762,000/
JL) e

ETRMIENAAREBEGE

ReRBRARANRAIAEENE
MEREERBERBERAN(EE
RBON=FERBR Z=—EBRIE
REENBABBNAIBRREER
EZUREWNT:

BIE - HREEREBERE
BH5 e RECKES

B)-

E2E: HEEIHERITEBERERNE
EXRREHABECE
EREMES®RE) X
NMERERTAEREH
ABIE -

FIE: BEEIEBEBEMHERTA
BB ARE -

TREENBEEERNAAEER
BAFMBOELR ZERERARE
B ERBEEREZNREENS
ANBUIE -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4 BREREERAABERE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
34.6 Fair value measurements of financial 6 EMIEANAAEBETE
instruments (Continued) (%)
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the RIEEMBRARANIBEE M EE
consolidated statement of financial position on a recurring basis NMARBEFENEGREERAE
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: ERAABERBEFREAT:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E F2E EIE )=
Notes ~ HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS$'000
Wi FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2023 R2023F 38318
Financial assets at FVTPL ERBREAAERE
RN ERMEE
— Cash surrender value of life — AEBRBRHBOE  (a)
insurance cEE — 1,978 — 1,978
At 31 March 2022 72022437318
Financial assets at FVTPL FBEREQNAEET
— Cash surrender value of life — AERBHBHE (3
insurance S EE — 1913 — 1913
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During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were no

transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose
of measuring fair values categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting periods and are

described below.

(a) Cash surrender value of life insurance

The fair value of the cash surrender value of life insurance
was determined based on the valuation provided by the
counterparty financial institution by reference to the

quoted price of the underlying units held.

B E 20235 20223 ANB IEFE -
FIE - F2B R FIE 2 HE A EE
gé °

ARFEF2EREIBRAABEN
77 7R R A B Bl B2 8 1 i = A AR
bedt AL WK T X E A

(a) ERENBARESEER
ASRBHEORSEENOR
REEDRESBEESE THM
REWNMGE L2 EHMFHERE
BHNREMET -
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 35 EXEE
The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the AEEEREANEEARERASEEFE
ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to provide WENRE N B ARRTREREAE
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to MmEFEmERENE  TESTEEARSE
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in BUARAKRERRER-
the long term.
The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes AEBEFHFEHBAEAREE  THEL
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group BEMRASIEEFAE AEBRBEFE
monitors its capital structure on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio. HE R REREARNEE - FEEY
The net debt to equity ratio is calculated based on total borrowings B XERSHREANBERE(REA
(including lease liabilities) divided by the total equity at each reporting EEBE)BNEERTE  AHFAR
date. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the ZL R REBE TR AR RREIRT AR
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new BEE BITHRG  SEHEBRENR
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt. HEBENWRLDER -
The net debt to equity ratio at each reporting date was: REREERFEBREERLER:
2023 2022
2023 20224
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F&r
Bank borrowings RITEE 6,494 6,493
Lease liabilities HEARE 12,879 14,445
Total borrowings wmiEE 19,373 20,938
Total equity BmRER 51,679 62,680
Net debt to equity ratio FEEHESLEE 37.5% 33.4%
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MBEHRE
ARERBEAENBEENERAREE R
AEMENBRACEREANBRE B

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements

is set out below:

T

RESULTS E
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 0225 2021 20204 2019
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Revenue g 78,194 95,913 120,551 91,103 85,408
Cost of sales HWEKA (26,610) (32,391) (46,330) (25,842) (27,497)
Gross profit EF 51,584 63,522 74,221 65,261 57,911
Other income Hep g A 9,070 711 4538 155 204
Selling and marketing expenses HERMEHERS (33,243) (33,400) (37,791) (33,652) (36,982)
Administrative expenses THHEZ (22518) (26,775) (18,921) 19,361 (18,821)
Fair value change on contingent ERIAREBORAEBELZS
consideration payable — 3,362 (2,633) (3,385) —
Reversal of provision/(Provision) for B 5 R H A JE Y 7108 A Ik FE UK
impairment of trade and other ERMAERERR/
receivables and loan receivables, net (BB) 5% 345 40 (200) (700) —
Provision for impairment of goodwill HEREEE (14,732) — — — —
Finance costs HBRA (794) (849) (1,310) (741) (269)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRATEH A (ER)RF (10,268) 6,981 17,904 15771 2,043
Income tax expense FERAX (762) (1.751) (3,345) (2,361) (951)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable FAXATEFEFA
to equity holders of the Company Pk (B 18), %7 (11,050) 5,230 14,559 5218 1092
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEENRBE
2023 2022 201 2020 2019
023%F 0225 2021 20204 2019
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEE 99,791 114,966 138,270 129,128 101,703
Total liabilities BEE (48,112) (52,286) (67,875) (73,583) (51,296)
Total equity B 51,679 62,680 70,39 55,545 50,407
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